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Under the Euro Medium Term Note Programme described in this Gtfering Circular (the “Programme™), Marks and
Spencer p.l.c., Marks and Spencer Finance p.l.c., Marks and Spencer Financial Services p.l.c. and 5t. Michael Finance
p.l.c. (the “Issuers’” and each an “Issuer”), subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regutations and directives, may
from time to time issue Euro Medium Term Notes guaranteed (in the case of Notes issued by Marks and Spencer Finance
p.l.c., Marks and Spencer Financial Services p.l.c. and St. Michael Finance p.l.c.} by Marks and Spencer p.l.c. {in such
capacity, the “Guaranior”) (the “Notes"}. Any reference in this Offering Circular to the “Gudrantor' is a reference to
Marks and Spencer p.l.c. in its capacity as guarantor under the Programme, as distinct from its capacity as issuer under
the Programme. The aggregate nominal amount of Notes outstanding will not at any time exceed £3,000,000,000(or the
equivalent in other currencies at the time of agreement to issue} subject as further set out herein.

Appiication has been made fo the Financial Services Autharity in its capacity as competent authority under the Financial
Services and Markets Act 2000 (the “UK Listing Authority” ) for Notes issued within 12 months of the date ot this Offering Circular
to be admitted to the official list of the UK Listing Authority (the “'Official List”) and to the London Stock Exchange plc (the
"London Stock Exchange’} for such Notes to be admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange's market for listed securities.
Adrnission to the Official List together with admission to trading on the London Stock Exchange's market for listed securities wili
constitute official listing on a stock exchange. However, unlisted Notes or Notes listed on other stock exchanges may be issued
pursuant to the Programme. The relevant Pricing Suppiement (as defined on page 5) in respect of the issue of any Notes will
specify whether or not such Notes will be listed on the Official List and admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange's market
for listed securities {or any other stock exchange).

Copies of this document, which comprises listing particulars approved by the UK Listing Authority in relation to Notes to be
issued during the period of 12 months from the date of this Offering Circular, have been delivered for registration to the Registrar of
Companies in England and Wales as required by Section 83 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.

Each Series (as defined on page 5) of Notes in bearer form will be represented on issue by a temporary glebal note in bearer
form {each a "temporary Glckal Note') or a permanent global note in bearer form (each a “'permanent Global Note'). Notes in
registered form will be represented by registered certificates (each a "'Certificate™), one Certificate being issued in respect of each
Noteholder's entire holding of Registered Notes of one Series. Global Notes and Certificates may be deposited on the issue date
with a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V., as operator of the Euroclear System (''Eurociear’) or
Clearstrearn Banking, scciété ancnyme {“‘Clearstream, Luxembourg" ). The provisions governing the exchange of interests in
Global Nates for other Global Notes and definitive Notes are described in “Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in

Global Form"',
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This Offering Circular {(which may be amended or supplemented from time to time) comprises listing
particulars approved in compliance with the listing rules made under Section 74 of the Financial Services
and Markets Act 2000 by the UK Listing Authority for the purpose of giving information with regard to the
Issuers, the Guarantor and its subsidiaries and affiliates taken as a whole (the “Group'') and the Notes.
Each of the Issuers accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Offering Circular. To the
best of the knowledge and belief of each of the Issuers (each having taken all reasonable care to ensure
that such is the case), the information cantained in this Offering Circular is in accordance with the facts
and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.

Any reference in this document to listing particulars means this document excluding all information
incorporated by reference. The Issuers and the Guarantor have confirmed that any information
incorporated by reference, including any such information to which readers of this document are
expressly referred, has not been, and does not need to be, included in the listing particulars to satisfy the
requirements of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 or the listing rules made under Section 74 of
the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 by the UK Listing Authority. The Issuers believe that none of
the information incorporated herein by reference conflicts in any material respect with the information
included in the listing particulars.

No person is or has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation other than
those contained in this Offering Circular in connection with the issue or sale of the Notes and, if given or
made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the
lssuers, the Guarantor or any of the Dealers or the Arranger (as defined in “Summary of the
Programme’'), Neither the delivery of this Offering Circular nor any sale made in connection herewith
shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the
Issuers or the Guarantor since the date 1ereof or the date upon which this Offering Circular has been
most recently amended or supplemented or that there has been no adverse change in the financial
position of the Issuers and the Guarantor since the date hereof or the date upon which this Offering
Circular has been most recently amended or supplemented or that any other information supplied herein
or in connection with the Programme or “he Notes is correct as of any time subsequent o the date on
which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same.

The distribution of this Offering Circular and the offering or sale of the Notes in certain jurisdictions may
be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Oifering Circular comes are required by the
Issuers, the Guarantor, the Dealers and the Arranger to inform themselves about and to observe any such
restriction. The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities
Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and include Notes in bearer form that are subject
to U.S. tax law requirements. Subject to certaih exceptions, Notes may not be offered, sold or
delivered within the United States or to U.S. persons. For a description of certain restrictions on
offers and sales of Notes and on distribution of this Offering Circular, see “Subscription and
Sale”.

This Offering Circular does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the Issuers, the
Guarantor or the Dealers to subscribe for, or purchase, any Notes.

The Arranger and the Dealers have not separately verified the information contained in this Offering
Circular. None of the Dealers or the Arranger makes any representation, express or implied, or accepts
any responsibility, with respect to the accuracy or completeness of any of the information in this Offering
Circular. Neither this Offering Circular nor any other financial statements are intended to provide the basis
of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a recommendation by any of the
Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or the Dealers that any recipient of this Offering Circular or any other
financial statements should purchase the Notes. Each potential purchaser of Notes should determine for
itself the relevance of the information contained in this Offering Circular and its purchase of Notes should
be based upon such investigation as it deems necessary. None of the Dealers or the Arranger undertakes
to review the financial condition or affairs of the lssuers or the Guarantor during the life of the
arrangements contemplated by this Offering Circular nor to advise any investor or potential investor in the
Notes of any information coming to the attention of any of the Dealers or the Arranger.

Schroder is a trademark of Schroders Holdings plc and is used under licence by Salomen Brothers
International Limited.




In connection with any Tranche (as defined in ‘““Summary of the Programme’'}, one of the Dealers may
act as a stabilising agent {the ““Stabilising Agent’"). The identity of the Stabilising Agent will be disclosed
in the relevant Pricing Supplement. References in the next paragraph to ''the issue ¢f any Tranche' are ta
each Tranche in relation to which a Stabilising Agent is appainted.

In connection with the issue of any Tranche, the Stabilising Agent or any person acting for him may over-
allot or effect transactions with a view to supperting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than
that which might otherwise prevail for a limited period after the issue daie. However, there may be no
obligation on the Stabilising Agent or any agent of his to do this. Such stabilising, if commenced, may be
discontinued at any time, and must be brought to an end after a limited period.

In this Offering Circular, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, references to "'g"
are to sterling. References o "eurg” and "€'" are to the currency introduced on 1st January, 1999
pursuant to the treaty establishing the European Community as amended.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

This Offering Circular should be read and construed in conjunction with each relevant Pricing
Supplement, the most recently published audited annual accounts, and any interim accounts (whether
audited or unaudited} published subsequently to such annual accounts, of the Issuers and the Guarantor
from time to time, which shall be deemed to be incorporated in, and to form part of, this Offering Circular
and which shall be deemed to modify or supersede the contents of this Offering Circular to the extent that
a statement contained in any such document is inconsistent with such contents; provided, however, that
no such document or modifying or superseding statement shall form part of the listing particulars issued
in compliance with the listing rules made under Section 74 of the Financial Services and Markets Act
2000.

SUPPLEMENTARY LISTING PARTICULARS

If at any time the Issuers shall be required to prepare supplementary listing particulars pursuant to
Section 81 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, the Issuers will prepare and make available an
appropriate amendment or supplement to this Offering Circular which, in respect of any subsequent issue
of Notes to be listed on the Official List and admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s market
for listed securities, shall constitute supplementary listing particulars as required by the UK Listing
Authority and Section 81 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.

Each Issuer and the Guarantor has given an undertaking to the Dealers that, unless the relevant Issuers
shall have notified the Permanent Dealers that no Notes are to be issued under the Programme for the
fime being, if at any time during the duration of the Programme there is a significant change affecting any
matter contained in this Offering Circular whose inclusion would reasonably be required by investors and
their professional advisers, and would reasonably be expected by them to be found in this Offering
Circular, for the purpose of making an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position,
profits and losses and prospects of the Issuers and the Guarantor and the rights attaching to the Notes,
the Issuers shall prepare an amendment or supplement to this Offering Circular or publish a replacement
offering circular for use in connection with any subsequent offering of the Notes and shall supply to each
Dealer such number of copies of such supplement hereto as such Dealer may reasonably request.
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SUMMARY OF THE PROGRAMME

The following summary is qualified in its entirety by the remainder of this Offering Circular, and, in relation
to the ferms and conditions of any particufar Tranche of Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement,

Issuers:

Guarantor:

Description:

Size:

Arranger:

Dealers:

Trustee:

Issuing and Paying Agent:

Registrar and Transfer
Agent:

Method of Issue:

Marks and Spencer p.l.c.

Marks and Spencer Finance p.l.c.

Marks and Spencer Financial Services p.l.c.
St. Michael Finance p.l.c.

In respect of Notes issued by Marks and Spencer Finance p.l.c., Marks
and Spencer Financial Services p.l.c. and St. Michael Finance p.l.c.,
Marks and Spencer p.l.c. Notes issued by Marks and Spencer p.l.c. will
not be guaranteed.

Euro Medium Term Note Programme

Up to £3,000,000,000 (or the equivalent in other currencies at the date
of issue) aggregate nominal amount of Notes outstanding at any one
time. The Issuers have the option at any time to increase the amount of
the Programme, in accordance with the terms of the Distribution
Agreement.

Goldman Sachs International

Barclays Bank PLC

Cazenove & Co. Ltd

Deutsche Bank AG London

Goldman Sachs International

J. P. Morgan Securities Ltd.

Morgan Stanley & Co. International Limited

Salomon Brothers International Limited

UBS AG, acting through its business group UBS Warburg

The Issuers may from time to time terminate the appointment of any
dealer under the Programme or appoint additional dealers either in
respect of one or more Tranches or in respect of the whole Programme.
References in this Cffering Circular to ‘‘Permanent Dealers’ are to the
persons listed above as Dealers and to such additional persons that are
appointed as dealers in respect of the whole Programme (and whose
appointment has not been terminated) and to "Dealers” are to all
Permanent Dealers and all persons appointed as dealers in respect of
one or more Tranches.

The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c.
Deutsche Bank AG London
Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A.

The Notes will be issued on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis. The
Notes will be issued in series (each a “Series”) having cne or more
issue dates and on terms otherwise identical (or identical other than in
respect of the first payment of interest), the Notes of each Series being
intended to be interchangeable with all other Notes of that Series issued
by the same lssuer. Each Series may be issued in tranches (each a
“Tranche" ) on the same or different issue dates. The specific terms of
each Tranche (which will be supplemented, where necessary, with
supplemental terms and conditions and, save in respect of the issue
date, issue price, first payment of interest and nominal amount of the
Tranche, will be identical to the terms of other Tranches of the same
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Issue Price:

Form of Notes:

Clearing Systems:

Initial Delivery of Notes:

Currencies:

Series) will be set out in a pricing supplement to this Offering Circular (a
“Pricing Supplement” ).

Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or at a discount or
premium to their nominal amount. Partly Paid Notes may be issued, the
issue price of which will be payable in two or more instaiments.

The Notes may be issued in bearer form ("'Bearer Notes”), in bearer
form exchangeable for Registered Notes {'‘Exchangeable Bearer
Notes™) or in registered form (“Registered Notes'}. Each Tranche of
Bearer Notes and Exchangeable Bearer Notes will be represented on
issue by a temporary Global Note if {i) definitive Notes are to be made
available to Noteholders following the expiry of 40 days after their issue
date or (i) such Notes have an initial maturity of more than one year and
are being issued in compliance with the D Rules (as defined  in
“Summary of the Programme — Selling Restrictions’ ), otherwise such
Tranche will be represented by a permanent Global Note. Regisiered
Notes will be represented by Certificates, one Certificate being issued in
respect of each Noteholder’s entire holding of Registered Notes of one
Series {subject to the provisions of the Agency Agreement).
Certificates representing Registered Notes that are registered in the
name of a nominee for one or more clearing sysiems are referred to as
"“Global Certificates’.

Clearstream, Luxembourg, Euroclear and, in relation to any Tranche,
such other clearing system as may be agreed between the relevant
Issuer, the Issuing and Paying Agent, the Trustee and the relevant
Dealer.

On or before the issue date for each Tranche, the Global Note
representing Bearer Notes or Exchangeable Bearer Notes or the
Certificate representing Registered Notes may be deposited with a
common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Global
Notes or Certificates may also be deposited with any other clearing
system or may be delivered outside any clearing system provided that
the method of such delivery has been agreed in advance by the relevant
Issuer, the Issuing and Paying Agent, the Trustee and the relevant
Dealer. Registered Notes that are to be credited to one or more clearing
systems on issue will be registered in the name of nominees or a
common neminee for such clearing systems.

Subject <0 compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives,
Notes may be issued in any currency agreed between the relevant
Issuer, the Guarantor in the case of Notes issued by Marks and Spencer
Finance pl.c., Marks and Spencer Financial Services p..c. and
St. Michael Finance p.l.c. and the relevant Dealers.

Issues of Notes denominated in Swiss francs or carrying a Swiss franc
related element with a maturity of more than one year {other than Notaes
privately placed with a single investor with no publicity) will be effected
in compliance with the relevant regulations of the Swiss National Bank
based on article 7 of the Federal Law on Banks and Savings Banks of
8th November, 1934 (as amended) and article 15 of the Federal Law on
Stock Exchanges and Securities Trading of 24th March, 1995 in
connection with article 2, paragraph 2 of the Ordinance of the Federal
Banking Corporation on Stock Exchanges and Securities Trading of
2nd Decamber, 1996. Under the said regulations, the relevant Dealer or,
in the case of a syndicated issue the lead manager (the ''Swiss
Dealer'), must be a bank domiciled in Switzerland (which includes
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Maturities:

Denomination:

Fixed Interest Rate Notes:

Floating Rate Notes:

Zero Coupon Notes:

Dua! Currency Notes:

Index Linked Notes:

Interest Periods and
Rates of Interest:

Redemption:

branches or subsidiaries of a forgign bank located in Switzerland or a
securities dealer only licensed by the Swiss Federal Banking
Commission as per the Federal Law on Stock Exchanges and Securities
Trading of 24th March, 1995). The Swiss Dealer must report certain
details of the relevant transaction to the Swiss National Bank no later
than the relevant issue date for such a transaction.

Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives,
any maturity between one month and 30 years. '

Definitive Notes will be in such denominations as may be specified in the
relevant Pricing Supplement, save that, unless otherwise permitied by
the then current laws and regulations, Notes which have a maturity of
less than one year will have a minimum denomination of £100,000 (or its
eguivalent in other currencies). Marks and Spencer Financial
Services p.l.c. is currently permitted to issue Notes of any denomination,
without restriction.

Fixed interest will be payable in arrear on the date or dates in each year
specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Floating rate Notes will bear interest determined for each Series as
follows:

{i} on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional interest rate
swap transaction in the relevant Specified Currency governed by an
agreement incorporating the 2000 ISDA Definitions published by
the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. or

(i) by reference to LIBOR, LIBID, LIMEAN or EURIBOR (or such other
benchmark as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement)
as adjusted for any applicable margin.

Interest periods will be specified in the relevant Pricing Suppfement.

Zero coupon Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or at a
discount to it and will not bear interest.

Payments {whether in respect of principal or interest and whether at
maturity or otherwise} in respect of Dual Currency Notes will be made in
such currencies, and based on such rates of exchange as may be
specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Payments of principal'in respect of Index Linked Redemption Notes or of
interest in respect of Index Linked Interest Notes will be calculated by
reference to such index and/or formula as may be specified in the
relevant Pricing Supplement.

The length of the interest periods for the Notes and the applicable
interest rate or its method of calculation may differ from time to time or
be constant for any Series. Notes may have a maximum interest rate, a
minimum interest rate, or both. The use of interest accrual periods
permits the Notes to bear interest at different rates in the same interest
period. All such information will be set out in the relevant Pricing
Supplement.

The relevant Pricing Supplement will specify the basis for calculating the
redemption amounts payable. Unless permitted by the then current laws
and regulations, Notes which have a maturity of less than one year must
have a minimum redemption amount of £100,000 (or its equivalent in
other currencies).




Redemption by
Instalments:

Other Notes:

Optional Redemption:

Status of Notes:

Negative Pledge:
Cross Default:

Early Redemption:

Withholding Tax:

Governing Law:

Listing:

Selling Restrictions:

The Pricing Supplement issued in respect of each issue of Notes that are
redeemadle in two or more instalments will set out the dates on which,
and the amounts in which, such Notes may be redeemed.

Terms applicable to high interest Notes, low interest Notes, step-up
Notes, step-down Notes, reverse dual currency Notes, optional dual
currency Notes, Partly Paid Notes and any other type of Note that the
relevant Issuer, the Trustee and any Dealer or Dealers may agree to
issue under the Programme will be set out in the relevant Pricing
Supplement. :

The Pricing Supplement issued in respect of each issue of Notes will
state whether such Notes may be redeemed prior to their stated
maturity at the option of the relevant Issuer (either in whole or in part)
and/or the holders, and if so.the terms applicable to such redemption.

The Notes and (in the case of Notes issued by Marks and Spencer
Finance p..c., Marks and Spencer Financial Services p.l.c. and St. Michael
Finance plc.) the guarantee in respect of them will constitute direct,
unconditional, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the relevant
lssuer and the Guarantor (as the case may be), respectively all as
described in “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Status”,

See "Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Negative Pledge".
See "Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Events of Default”.

Except as provided in **Optional Redemption'’ above, Notes will be
redeemable at the option of the Issuer prior to maturity only for tax
reasons. See 'Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Redemption,
Purchase and Options™.

All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes will be made
free and clear of withholding taxes of the United Kingdom save as may be
required oy law, in which case such payments will be grossed up subject to
customary exceptions (including the IPMA Standard EU Exception}, alt as
described in “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Taxation.

English.

The Official List of the UK Listing Authority and admission to trading on
the Londen Stock Exchange's market for listed securities or as
otherwise specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement. As specified in
the relevant Pricing Supplement, a Series of Notes may be unlisted.

United States, United Kingdom, The Netherlands and Japan. See
“Subscription and Sale”.

The Guarantor is Category 2 for the purposes of Regulation S under the
United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

The Notes will be issued in compliance with U.S. Treas. Reg. §1.163-
5(c)(2){i)(D) (the “D Rules") unless (i} the relevant Pricing
Supplement states that Notes are issued in compliance with U.S. Treas.
Reg. §1.163-5{c}{2)(i}{C) (the “'C Rules"} or (ii) the Notes are
issued other than in compliance with the D Rules or the C Rules but in
circumstances in which the Notes will not constitute ‘'registration
required obligations” under the United States Tax Equity and Fiscal
Responsibility Act of 1982 (“TEFRA™), which circumstances will be
referred to in the relevant Pricing Supplement as a fransaction to which
TEFRA is not applicable,

8




TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following is the text of the terms and conditions that, subject to completion and amendment and as
supplemented, varied or replaced in accordance with the provisions of the relevant Pricing Supplement,
shall be applicable to the Notes in definitive form (if any) issued in exchange for the Global Note(s)
representing each Series. Either (i} the full text of these terms and conditions fogether with the relevant
provisions of the Pricing Supplement or (if) these terms and conditions as so completed, amended,
supplemented, varied or replaced (and subject to simplification by the deletion of nor-applicable
provisions), shall be endorsed on such Bearer Notes or on the Certificates relating to such Registered
Notes and will be incorporated by reference into each Global Nofe. All capitalised terms that are not
defined in these Conditions will have the meanings given to them in the relevant Pricing Supplement.
Those definitions will be endorsed on the definitive Notes or Certificates, as the case may be. References
in the Conditions to ""Notes” are to the Notes of one Series only, not to all Notes that may be issued under
the Programme. References in the Conditions in relation to a series of Notes fo the Issuer are to the issuer
named in the relevant Pricing Supplement as the issuer of the relevant Notes and not to any other issuer
which may issue Nates under the Programme.

The Notes are constituted by an Amended and Restated Trust Deed (as amended or supplemented as at
the date of issue of the Notes (the “lssue Date’'}, the “Trust Deed”) dated 23rd September, 2002
between the Issuer, the other issuers named in it[, the Guarantor]' and The Law Debenture Trust
Corporation p.l.c. {the “Trustee”, which expression shall include all persons for the time being the
trustee or trustees under the Trust Deed)} as frustee for the Noteholders (as defined below)}. These
terms and conditions include summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Trust Deed,
which includes the form of the Bearar Notes, Certificates, Raceipts, Coupons and Talons referred to
below. An Amended and Restated Agency Agreement (as amended or supplemented as at the Issue
Date, the “Agency Agreement”) dated 23rd September, 2002 has been entered into in relation to the
Notes between the Issuer, the other issuers named in it, [the Guarantor,]' the Trustee, Deutsche Bank
AG London as issuing and paying agent and the other agents named in it. The issuing and paying agent,
the paying agents, the registrar, the transfer agents and the calculation agent{s) for the time being (if
any) are referred to below respectively as the “Issuing and Paying Agent”, the “Paying Agents’ (which
expression shall include the Issuing and Paying Agent), the “Registrar”, the “Transfer Agents” {which
expressian shall include the Registrar} and the "Calculation Agent(s)”. Copies of the Trust Deed and
the Agency Agreement are available for inspection during usual business hours at the registered office of
the Trustee {presently at Fifth Floor, 100 Wood Street, London EC2V 7EX) and at the specified offices of
the Paying Agents and the Transfer Agents save that, if this Note is an unlisted Note of any Series, the
applicable Pricing Supplement will only be available for inspection by a Noteholder holding one or more
unlisted Notes of that Series and such Noteholder must produce evidence satisfactory to the relevant
Paying Agent or Transfer Agent or the Trustee, as the case may be, as to its identity.

The Noteholders, the holders of the interest coupons (the “Coupaons™) relating to interest bearing Notes
in bearer form and, where applicable in the case of such Notes, talons for further Coupons (the
“Talons™) (the “Couponholders™) and the holders of the receipts for the payment of instalments of
principal (the “‘Receipts”) relating to Notes in bearer form of which the principal is payable in instaiments
are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all the provisions of the
Trust Deed and the relevant Pricing Supplement and are deemed to have notice of those provisions
applicable to them of the Agency Agreement.

1. Feorm, Denomination and Title

The Notes are issued in bearer form {“'Bearer Notes'', which expression includes Notes that are specified
to be Exchangeable Bearer Notes), in registered form ('‘Registered Notes') or in bearer form
exchangeable for Registered Notes {“Exchangeable Bearer Notes”} in each case in the Specified
Denomination {s) shown hereon.

* This text will only appear on Notes issued by an Issuer other than Marks and Spencer p.l.c.
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All Registered Notes shall have the same Specified Denomination. Where Exchangeable Bearer Notes are
issued, the Registered Notes for which they are exchangeable shall have the same Specified
Denomination as the lowest denomination of Exchangeabie Bearer Notes.

This Note is a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note, a Zero Coupon Note, an {ndex Linked Interest Note,
an Index Linked Redemption Note, an Instalment Note, a Dual Currency Note or a Partly Paid Note, a
combination of any of the foregoing or any other kind of Note, depending upon the Interest and
Redemption /Payment Basis shown hereon.

Bearer Notes are seriaily numbered and are issued with Coupons {and, where appropriate, a Talon)
attached, save in the case of Zerc Coupon Notes in which case references to interest (other than in
relation to interest due after the Maturity Date), Coupons and Talons in these Conditions are not
applicable. Instalment Notes are issued with one or more Receipts attached.

Registered Notes are represented by registered certificates (“Certificates”) and, save as provided in
Condition 2(c), each Certificate shall represent the entire holding of Registered Notes by the same

holder.

Title to the Bearer Notes and the Receipts, Coupons and Talons shall pass by delivery. Title to the
Registered Notes shall pass by registration in the register that the Issuer shall procure to be kept by the
Registrar in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement (the '‘Register”). Except as
ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law, the holder (as defined below) of any
Note, Receipt, Coupan or Talon shall be deemed to be and may be treated as its absolute owner for all
purposes whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or an interest in it,
any writing on it (or on the Certificate representing it) or its theft or loss (or that of the related
Certificate) and no person shall be liable for any loss or damage caused by so treating the holder.

In these Conditions, “‘Noteholder’” means the bearer of any Bearer Note and the Receipts relating to it or
the person in whose name a Registered Mote is registered (as the case may be), ""Holder” (in relation to
a Note, Recsipt, Coupon or Talon) means the bearer of any Bearer Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon or the
person in whose name a Registered Note is registered (as the case may be) and capitalised terms have
the meanings given to them hereon, the absence of any such meaning indicating that such term is not
applicable to the Notes.

2. Exchanges of Exchangeable Bearer Notes and Transfers of Registered Notes

(a) Exchange of Exchangeable Bearer Notes:

Subject as provided in Condition 2{f), Exchangeable Bearer Notes may be exchanged for the same
aggregate nominal amount of Registerec Notes at the request in writing of the relevant Noteholder and
upon surrender of each Exchangeable Bearer Note fo be exchanged, together with all unmatured
Receipts, Coupons and Talons refating to it (if any), at the specified office of any Transfer Agent;
provided, however, that where an Exchangeable Bearer Note is surrendered for exchange after the
Record Date {as defined in Condition 7 (b)) for any payment of interest, the Coupon in respect of that
payment of interest need not be surrendered with it. Registered Notes may not be exchanged for Bearer
Notes. Bearer Notes of one Specified Denomination may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes of another
Specified Denomination. Bearer Notes that are not Exchangeable Bearer Notes may not be exchanged for
Registered Notes.

(b) Transfer of Registered Notes:

One or more Registered Notes may be transferred upon the surrender (at the specified office of the
Registrar or any Transfer Agent) of the Certificate representing such Registered Notes to be transferred,
together with the form of transfer endorsed on such Certificate duly completed and executed and any
other evidence as the Registrar or Transfer Agent may reasonably require. In the case of a transfer of part
only of a holding of Registered Notes represented by one Certificate, a new Certificate shall be issued to
the transferee in respect of the part transferred and a further new Certificate in respect of the balance of
the holding not transferred shall be issued to the transferor.
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{c) Exercise of Options or Partial Redemption in Respect of Registered Notes:

In the case of an exercise of an Issuer's or Noteholder’'s option in respect of, or a partial redemption of, a
holding of Registered Notes represented by a single Certificate, a new Certificate shall be issued to the
holder to reflect the exercise of such option or in respect of the balance of the helding not redeemed. In
the case of a partial exercise of an option resulting in Registered Notes of the same holding having
different terms, separate Certificates shall be issued in respect of those Notes of that holding that have
the same terms. New Certificates shall only be issued against surrender of the existing Certificates to the
Registrar or any Transfer Agent. In the case of a transfer of Registered Notes to a person who is already a
holder of Registered Notes, a new Certificate representing the enlarged holding shall only be issued
against surrender of the Certificate representing the existing holding,

(d) Delivery of New Certificates:

Each new Certificate to be issued pursuant to Conditions 2{a}, (b) or {¢) shall be available for delivery
within three business days of receipt of the request for exchange, form of transfer or Exercise Notice (as
defined in Condition 6 (e} Yor surrender of the Certificate for exchange. Delivery of the new Certificate (s)
ghall be made at the specified office of the Transfer Agent or of the Registrar (as the case may be) to
whom delivery or surrender of such request for exchange, form of transfer, Exercise Notice or Certificate
shall have been made or, at the option of the holder making such delivery or surrender as aforesaid and
as specified in the relevant request for exchange, form of transfer, Exercise Notice or otherwise in writing,
be mailed by uninsured post at the risk of the holder entitled to the new Certificate to such address as
may be so specified, unless such holder requests otherwise and pays in advance to the relevant Agent
the costs of such other method of delivery and/for such insurance as it may specify. In this Condition
2(d), “business day’’ means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which banks are open for
business in the place of the specified office of the relevant Transfer Agent or the Registrar (as the case
may be).

{e} Exchange Free of Charge:

Exchange and transfer of Notes and Certificates on registration, transfer, exercise of an option or partial
redemption shall be eifected without charge by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Registrar or the Transfer
Agents, but upon payment of any tax or other governmental charges that may be imposed in relation to it
{or the giving of such indemnity as the Registrar or the relevant Transfer Agent may require}.

(f) Closed Periods:

No Noteholder may require the transfer of a Registered Note to be registered or an Exchangeable Bearer
Note to be exchanged for one or more Registered Note(s) (i} during the period of 15 days ending on the
due date for redemption of, or payment of any Instalment Amount in respect of, that Note, (1i) during the
period of 15 days prior to any date an which Notes may be called for redemption by the Issuer at its
option pursuant to Condition 8(d}, (iii) after any such Note has been called for redemption in whole or in
part or (iv) during the period of seven days ending con (and including) any Record Date. An
Exchangeable Bearer Note called for redemption may, however, be exchanged for one or more
Registered Note(s) in respect of which the Certificate is simultaneously surrendered not later than the
relevant Record Date.

3. [Guarantee and]' Status of Notes

[ {(a} Guarantee: The Guarantor has unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed the due payment of all
sums expressed to be payable by the Issuer under the Trust Deed, the Notes, Receipts and
Coupons. Its obligations in that respect {the “Guarantee') are contained in the Trust Deed.

(b) Status of Notes and Guarantee:]' The Notes and the Receipts and Coupons relating to them
constitute (subject to Condition 4} unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer and
shall at all times rank pari passu and without any preference among themselves. The payment
obligations of the Issuer under the Notes and the Receipts and Coupons relating to them [and of the
Guarantor under the (:‘:uarant.c,uc;]1 shall, save for such exceptions as may be provided by applicable

! This text will only appear on Notes issued by an lssuer other than Marks and Spencer p.l.c.
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legis

lation and subject to Condition 4, at all times rank af [east equally with all other unsecured and

unsubordinated obligations in respect of borrowed money of the lIssuer [and the Guarantor

resp

ectively],! present and future.

4. Negative Pledge

{a) Rest

riction:  So long as any of the Motes, Receipts or Coupons remains outstanding (as defined in

the Trust Deed):

(i)

(i)

the lssuer will procure that no indebtedness of the Issuer for borrowed money (as defined
below) existing on or after the Issue Date and no guarantee or indemnity by the lssuer of any
indebtedness for borrowed money of any person will be secured by any mortgage, lien, pledge
or other charge upon, or with respect to, any of the present or future assets or revenues of the
Issuer or any other person, unless the Issuer shall, simuttaneousty with, or prior to, the creation
of any such charge, take any ard all action necessary to procure that all amounts payable by it
under the Notes, the Coupons and the Trust Deed are secured equally and rateably by such
charge to the satisfaction of the Trustee or such other security is provided as the Trustee shall in
its absolute discretion deem not materially less beneficial to the Noteholders or as shall be
approved by an Extraordinary Resolution {as defined in the Trust Deed} of the Noteholders
[; and

the Guarantor will not, and will procure that no Subsidiary {as defined in the Trust Deed) of the
Guarantor, other than the Issuer, will create or permit to subsist any mortgage, lien, pledge or
other charge upon, or with respact to, any of its present or future assets or revenues to secure
any Relevant Indebtedness existing on or after the Issue Date of any person, unless the
Guarantor shall, simultaneously with, or prior ta, the creation of any such charge take any and all
action necessary to procure that all amounts payable by it under the Trust Deed are secured
equally and rateably by such charge to the satisfaction of the Trustee or such other security is
provided as the Trustee shall in its absolute discretion deem not materially less beneficial to the
Noteholders or as shall be approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders]",

[the Issuer will not, and will procure that none of its Subsidiaries (as defined in the Trust Deed)
will create or permit to subsist any mortgage, lien, pledge or other charge upon, or with respect
to, any of its present or future assets or revenues to secure any Relevant Indebtedness existing
on or after the Issue Date of any person, unless the Issuer shall, simultaneously with, or prior to,
the creation of any such charge take any and all action necessary to procure that all amounts
payable by it under the Trust Deed are secured equally and rateably by such charge to the
satisfaction of the Trustee or such other security is provided as the Trustee shall in its absolute
discretion deem not materially less beneficial to the Noteholders or as shall be approved by an
Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders]?,

(b) Definitions: For the purposes of this Condition:

(i}

(ii)

“borrowed money”’ means {(a) money borrowed and premiums and accrued interest in respect
thereof, (b) liabiiities under or in respect of any acceptance or acceptance credit and {c) the
principal and premium (if any) and accrued interest in respect of any notes, bonds, debentures,
loan stock or other debt securities whether issued in whole or in part for cash or other
consideration;

“Relevant Indebtedness’ means any loan or other indebtedness which is in the form of or
represented by any bonds, notes or other securities initially offered by or on behaif of the lssuer
primarily to persons resident outside any couritry in the currency of which they are denominated
or payable (whether compulsorily or at the option of the holder} and for the time being quoted,
listed or dealt in on any stock exchange, or any guarantee of, or indemnity in respect of any such
loan or cther indebtedness. Where any bonds, notes or other securities are agreed to be issued
to any person (wherever resident) with a view o being offered primarily to persons resident

! This text will only appear on Notes issued by an Issuer other than Marks and Spencer p.l.c.

2 This text will only appear on Notes issued by Marks and Spencer p.l.c.

12




outside any couniry in the currency of which they are denominated or payable, they shall be
deemed to have been so offered by or on behalf of the Issuer thereof.

5. Interest and other Calculations

{a) Interest and Accrual on Fixed Ratfe Notes:

Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest on its outstanding norminal amount from (and including) the interest
Commencement Date at the rate per annum {expressed as a percentage) equal to the Rate of Interest
specified hereon, such interest being payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date.

If a Fixed Coupon Amount or a Broken Amount is specified hereon, the amount of interest payable on
each Interest Payment Date will amount to the Fixed Coupon Amount or, if applicable, the Broken Amount
50 specified and, in the case of the Broken Amount, will be payable on the particular Interest Payment
Date (s) specified hereon.

Interest shall cease to accrue on each Note on the due date for redemption unless, upon due
presentation, payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused, in which event interest shall continue
to accrue {as well after as before judgment) at the Rate of Interest in the manner provided in this
Condition 5 to the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 8).

(b} Interest on Fioating Rate Nofes and Index Linked Interest Notes:

(i) Interest Payment Dates: Each Floating Rate Note and Index Linked Interest Note bears interest
on its outstanding nominal amount from the Interest Commencement Date at the rate per annum
{expressed as a percentage} equal to the Rate of Interest, such interest being payable in arrear
on each Interest Payment Date. Such Interest Payment Date (s) is/are either shown hereon as
Specified interest Payment Dates or, if no Specified Interest Payment Date({s) is/are shown
hereon Interest Payment Date shall mean each date which falls the number of months or other
period shown hereon as the Specified Period after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in
the case of the first Interest Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement Date.

(ii) Business Day Convention: If any date referred to in these Conditions that is specified to be
subject to adjustment in accordance with a Business Day Convention would otherwise fall on a
day that is not a Business Day, then, if the Business Day Convention Specified is (A} the
Floating Rate Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a
Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such date
shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day and each subsequent such
date shall be the last Business Day of the month in which such date would have falien had it not
been subject to adjustment, (B) the Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be
postponed to the next day that is a Business Day, (C) the Modified Following Business Day
Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day unless it would
thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such date shall be brought forward to
the immediately preceding Business Day or (D) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such
date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.

(iii) Rate of Interest for Floating Rate Notes: The Rate of Interest in respect of Floating Rate Notes
for each Interest Accrual Period shall be determined in the manner specified hereon and the
provisions below relating to either ISDA Determination or Screen Rate Determination shall apply,
depending upon which is specified hereon.

(A) ISDA Determination for Floating Rates Notes

Where ISDA Determination is specified hereon as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to
be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period shall be determined by the
Calculation Agent as a rate equal to the relevant ISDA Rate plus or minus (as indicated hereon)
the Margin (if any)}. For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (A), "ISDA Rate’ for an Interest
Accrual Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be determined by the
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Calculation Agent under a Swap Transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the
ISDA Definitions and under which:

(x) the Floating Rate Option is as specified hereon;
{y) the Designated Maturity is a period‘ specified hereon; and

{z) the relevant Reset Date is the first day of that Interest Accrual Pericd unless otherwise
specified hereon.

For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (A), “Floating Rate’’, "'Calculation Agent”, ““Floating
Rate Option”, “'Designated Maturity”, “'Reset Date” and "“Swap Transaction have the
meanings given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions.

(B) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes

Where Screen Rate Determination is specified hereon as the manner in which the Rate of
Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period shall be
determined by the Calculation Agent at or about the Relevant Time on the Interest
Determination Date in respect of such Interest Accrual Period in accordance with the following:

{x) if the Primary Source for Floating Rate is a Page, subject as provided below, the Rate of
Interest shall be:

(i} the Relevant Rate {where such Relevant Rate on such Page is a composite quotation
or is customarily supplied by one entity) or

(i) the arithmetic mean of the Relevant Rates of the persons whose Relevant Rates
appear on that Page,

in each case appearing on such Page at the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination
Date :

(y) if the Primary Source for the Floating Rate is Reference Banks or if sub-paragraph (x) (i}
above applies and no Relevant Rate appears on the Page at the Relevant Time on the
Interest Determination Date or if sub-paragraph (x) (ii) above applies and fewer than two
Relevant Rates appear on the Page at the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination
Date, subject as provided below, the Rate of Interest shall be the arithmetic mean of the
Relevant Rates that each of the Reference Banks is quoting o leading banks in the
Relevant Financial Centre at the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date, as
determined by the Calculation Agent

if paragraph {y)above applies and the Calculation Agent determines that fewer than two
Reference Banks are so guoting Relevant Rates, subject as provided below, the Rate of
Interest shall be the arithmetic mean of the rates per annum {expressed as a percentage)
that the Calculation Agent determines to be the rates (being the nearest equivalent to the
Benchmark) in respect of a Representative Amount of the Specified Currency that at least
two out of five leading banks in the principal financial centre of the country of the Specified
Currency ar, if the Specified Currency is euro, in the euro-zone(the "'Principal Financial
Centre") selected by the Calculation Agent are quoting at or about the Relevant Time on
the date on which such barks would customarily quate such rates for a period commencing
on the Effective Date for a oeriod equivalent to the Specified Duration (i) to leading banks
carrying on business in Europe, or (if the Calculation Agent determines that fewer than two
of such banks are so quoting to leading banks in Europe) (ii) to leading banks carrying on
business in the Principal Financiat Centre; except that, if fewer than two of such banks are
$0 quoting to leading banks in the Principal Financial Cenire, the Rate of Interest shall be
the Rate of Interest determined on the previous Interest Determination Date (after
readjustment for any difference between any Margin, Rate Multiplier or Maximum or
Minimum Interest Rate applicable to the preceding Interest Accruai Period and fo the
relevant Interest Accrual Period)

(z

—
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{iv) Rate of Interest for Index Linked Interest Notes: The Rate of Interest in respect of Index Linked
Interest Notes far each Interest Accrual Period shall be determined in the manner specified
hereon and interest will accrue by reference to an Index or Formula as specified hereon.

{c) Zero Coupon Notes:

Where a Noté the Interest Basis of which is specified 1o be Zero Coupon is repayable prior to the Maturity
Date and is not paid when due, the amount due and payable prior to the Early Maturity Date shall be the
Redemption Amount specified hereon. As from the Maturity Date, the Interest Rate for any overdue
principal of such a Note shall be a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation
Yield {as defined in Condition 6(b} {i)).

(d) Dual Currency Notes:

In the case of Dual Currency Notes, if the rate or amount of interest falls to be determined by reference to
a Rate of Exchange or a method of calculating the Rate of Exchange, the rate or amount of interest
payable shall be determined in the manner specified hereon,

{e) Partly Paid Notes:

in the case of Partly Paid Notes (other than Partly Paid Notes which are Zero Coupon Notes), interest will
accrue as aforesaid on the paid-up nominal amount of such Notes and otherwise as specified hereon.

{f) Accrual of Interest:

interest shall cease to accrue on each Note on the due date for redemption unless, upon due
presentation, payment is improperly withheld or refused, in which event interest shall continue to accrue
(as well after as before judgment) at the Rate of Interest in the manner provided in this Condition 5 to the
Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 8). '

{g) Margin, Maximum/Minimum Rates of Interest, Instalment Amounts and Redemption Amounts, Rate
Multipliers and Rounding:

(1) If any Margin or Rate Muttiplier is specified hereon (either (x) generally, or (y) in relation to one
or more Interest Accrual Periods), an adjustment shall be made to all Inferest Rates, in the case
of (x}, or the Interest Rates for the specified Interest Accrual Periods, in the case of {y),
calculated in accordance with Condition 5(c) above by adding (if a positive number) or
subtracting (if a negative number) the absolute value of such Margin or multiplying by such
Rate Multiplier, subject always to the next paragraph.

(i) if any Maximum or Minimum Interest Rate, Instalment Amount or Redemption Amount is
specified hereon, then any Interest Rate, Instalment Amount or Redemption Amount shall be
subject to such maximum or minimum, as the case may be.

{iii) For the purposes of any calculaticns required pursuant to these Conditions {unless otherwise
specified ), (%) all percentages resulting from such calculations shall be rounded, if necessary,
to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage peint {(with halves being rounded up),
{y) all figures shall be rounded to seven significant figures {with halves being rounded up) and
{z) all currency amounts that fall due and payable shall be rounded to the nearest unit of such
currency {with halves being rounded up), save in the case of yen, which shall be rounded down
to the nearest yen, For these purposes "“unit” means the lowest amount of such currency that is
available as legal tender in the country of such currency.

(h) Calculations:

The amount of interest payable in respect of any Note for any period shall be calculated by multiplying the
product of the Rate of Interest and the outstanding nominal amount of such Note by the Day Count
Fraction, unless an Interest Amount (or a formula for its calculation} is specified in respect of such
period, in which case the amount of interest payable in respect of such Note for such period shall equal
such Interest Amount (or be calculated in accordance with such formula). Where any Interest Period
comprises two or more Interest Accrual Periods, the amount of interest payable in respect of such Interest
Period shall be the sum of the amounts of interest payable in respect of each of those Interest Accrual
Periods.
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{i) Determination and Fublication of Rates of interest, interest Amounts, Final Redemption Amounts,
Early Redemption Amounts, Optional Redemption Amounts and Instalment Amounts:

As soon as practicable after the relevant time on each Interest Determination Date or such other time on
such date as the Calculation Agent may ke required to calculate any rate or amount, obtain any quotation
or make any determination or calculation, it shall determine such rate and calculate the Interest Amounts
in respect of each Specified Dencmination of the Notes for the relevant Interest Accrual Period, calculate
the Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amounts, Optional Redemption Amounts or any
Instalment Amaount, obtain such quotation or make such determination or calculation, as the case may be,
and cause the Interest Rate and the Interest Amounts for gach Interest Period and the relevant Interest
Payment Date and, if required to be calculated, the Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption
Amounts, Optional Redemption Amount or any Instalment Amount to be notified to the Trustee, the
lssuer, eéach of the Paying Agents, the Noteholders, any other Calculation Agent appeinted in respect of
the Notes that is to make a further calculation upon receipt of such information and, if the Notes are listed
on a stock exchange and the rules of such exchange so require, such exchange as soon as possible after
their determination but in no event later than (i) the commencement of the relevant Interest Period, if
determined prior to such time, in the case of notification to such exchange of a Rate of Interest and
Interest Amount, or (ii) in all other cases, the fourth Business Day after such determination. Where any
Interest Payment Date or Interest Period Date is subject to adjustment pursuant to Condition 5(b) (ii),
the Interest Amounts and the Interest Payment Date so published may subsequently be amended (or
appropriate alternative arrangements made with the consent of the Trustee by way of adjustment)
without notice in the event of an extensicn or shortening of the Interest Period, If the Notes become due
and payable under Condition 10, the accrued interest and the Interest Rate payable in respect of the
Notes shall nevertheless continue to be calculated as previously in accordance with this Condition but no
publication of the interest Rate or the Inferest Amount so caiculated need be made unless the Trustee
otherwise requires. The determination of any rate or amount, the obtaining of each quotation and the
making of each determination or calculation by the Calculation Agent(s) shall {in the absence of
manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties.

(i) Determination or Calculation by Trustee:

If the Calculation Agent does not at any time for any reason determine or calculate the interest Rate for an
Interest Period or any Interest Amount, Instalment Amount or Final Redemption Amount, Early
Redemption Amount or Optional Redemption Amount, the Trustee shall do so (or shall appoint an agent
on its behalf to do so) and such determination or calculation shall be deemed to have been made by the
Calculation Agent. In deoing so, the Trustee shall apply the foregoing provisions of this Condition, with any
necessary consequential amendments, to the extent that, in its opinion, it can do so, and, in all other
respects it shall do so in such manner as it shall deem fair and reasonable in all the circumstances.

(k) Definitions:

In these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms shall have the
meanings set out below:

“Business Day” means:

(i) in the case of a currency other than euro, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which
commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in the principal financial centre for
such currency and/or

(ii) inthe case of euro, any day on whict the TARGET system is operating (a *"TARGET Business Day'’)
and/or

(i) in the case of a specified currency and/or one or more Additional Business Centres, a day (other
than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle
payments in such currency in the Additional Business Centre or, if none is indicated, generally in
each of the Additional Busingss Centres.
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*Day Count Fraction” means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest on any Note for any
period of time (whether or not constituting an Interest Period, the “*Calculation Period™'):

(i) if “Actual/365" or “Actual/Actual — |SDA" is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the
Calculation Period divided by 365 {or, if any portion of that Calculation Period falls in a leap year, the
sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a leap year
divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Peried falling in a
non-leap year divided by 365

(ii) if "Actual/365 (Fixed)’' is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period
divided by 365

(iii} if “Actual/360" is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by
360 )

(iv)if *30/360", “360/360" or "Bond Basis’ is specified hereon, the number of days in the Calculation
Pericd divided by 360 (the number of days to be calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days with
12 30-day months (unless {a) the last day of the Calculation Period is the 31st day of a menth but
the first day of the Calculation Period is a day other than the 30th or 31st day of a month, in which
case the month that includes that last day shall not be considered to be shortened to a 30-day
month, or (b) the last day of the Calculation Period is the last day of the month of February, in which
case the month of February shall not be considered to be lengthened to a 30-day month})}

(v} if “30E/360" or “*Eurobond Basis" is specified hereon, the number of days in the Calculation Period
divided by 360 (the number of days to be calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days with 12 30-
day months, without regard 1o the date of the first day or last day of the Calculation Period uniess, in
the case of a Calculation Period ending on the Maturity Date, the Maturity Date is the last day of the
month of February, in which case the month of February shall not be considered to be lengthened to
a 30-day month)

{vi} if “*Sterling/FRN" is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the interest Period divided by
365 or, in the case of an Interest Payment Date falling in a leap year, 366 and,

{(vih)if ""Actual/Actual-ISMA"' is specified hereon,

{a) if the Calculation Period Is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during which it falls,
the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by the product of (x) the number of days
in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in
any year; and

{b) if the Calculation Period is longer than one Determination Period, the sum of:

{x) the number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the Determination Period in which it
begins divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination Period and
(2) the number of Determination Periods in any year; and

{y) the number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Determination Period
divided by the product of (1} the number of days in such Determination Pericd and {2} the
number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year

where:

*'Determination Period”” means the period from and including a Determination Date in any
year {0 but excluding the next Determination Date; and

“'Determination Date’” means the date specified as such herecn or, if none is so specified,
the Interest Payment Date,

“Effective Date’’ means, with respect 1o any Floating Rate to be determined on an Interest Determination
Date, the date specified as such hereon or, if none is so specified, the first day of the Interest Accrual
Period to which such Interest Determination Date relates.
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“euro-zone™ means the region comprised of member states of the European Union that adopt the single
currency in accordance with the Treaty establishing the European Community as amended by the Treaty
on European Union.

“Interest Accrual Period” means the period beginning on {and including)} the Interest Commencement
Date and ending on (but excluding} the first Interest Period Date and each successive period beginning
on {and including} an Interest Period Date and ending on (but excluding) the next succeeding Interest
Period Cate. '

“Interest Amount’ means the amount of i 1terest payable, and in the case of Fixed Rate Noles, means the
Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount, as the case may be, and in the case of Index Linked Notes,
includes the Coupon.

“Interest Commencement Date” means the Issue Date or such other date as may be specified hereon.

“Interest Determination Date’’ means, with respect to a Rate of Interest and Interest Accrual Period, the
date specified as such hereon or, if none is s0 specified, (i} the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if
the Specified Currency is Sterling or (ii} the day falling two Business Days in London for the Specified
Currency prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is neither sterling
nor euro or (jii} the day falling two TARGET Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual
Pericd if the Specified Currency is euro.

“Interest Period’’ means the period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date and
ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period beginning on {and
including)} an Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next succeeding interest
Payment Date.

“Interest Period Date™ means each Interest Payment Date unless otherwise specified hereon.

“ISDA Definitions” means the 2000 ISDA Definitions published by the International Swaps and
Derivatives Association, Inc., unless otherwise specified hereon.

“Page' means such page, section, caption, column or other part of a particular information service
{including, but not limited to Reuters Markets 3000 ("'Reuters”) and Moneyline Telerate (‘Moneyline
Telerate™}) as may be specified for the purpose of providing a Relevant Rate, or such other page,
section, caption, column or other part as may replace it on that information service or on such other
information service, in each case as may be nominated by the person or organisation providing or
sponsoring the information appearing there for the purpose of displaying rates or prices comparable to
that Relevant Rate.

“Interest Rate” means the rate of interest payable from time to time in respect of this Note and that is
either specified or calculated in accordance with the provisions hereon.

“Reference Banks' means the institutions specified as such hereon or, if none, four major banks selected
by the Calculation Agent in the interbank market (or, if appropriate, money, swap or over-the-counter
index options market) that is most closely connected with the Benchmark (which if EURIBOR is the
relevant Benchmark, shall be the euro-zone).

“Relevant Financial Centre"” means, with respect to any Floating Rate to be determined in accordance
with a Screen Rate Determination on an Interest Determination Date, the financial centre as may be
specified as such hereon or, if none is so specified, the financial centre with which the relevant
Benchmark is most closely connected {which, in the case of EURIBOR, shali be the euro-zone) or, if
none is so connected, London.

“Refevant Rate’’ means the Benchmark for a Representative Amount of the Specified Currency for a
period (if applicable or appropriate to the Benchmark) equal to the Specified Duration commencing on
the Effective Date.

“Relevant Time"” means, with respect ta any Interest Determination Date, the local time in the Relevant
Financial Centre specified hereon or, if none is specified, the local time in the Relevant Financial Centre at
which it is customary to determine bid and offered rates in respect of deposits in the Specified Currency
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in the interbank market in the Relevant Financial Centre and for this purpose “local time' means with
respect to Europe and the euro-zone as a relevant Financial Cenire, Central European time.

“Representative Amount” means, with respect to any Floating Rate to be determined in accordance with
a Screen Rate Determination on an Interest Determination Date, the amount specified as such hereon or,
it none is specified, an amount that is representative for a single transaction in the relevant market at the
time.

“Specified Currency’’ means the currency specified as such hereon or, if none is specified, the currency
in which the Notes are denominated.

“Specified Duration’' means, with respect to any Floating Rate to be determined in accordance with a
Screen Rate Determination on an Interest Determination Date, the duration specified herean or, if none is
specified, a period of time equal to the relative Interest Accrual Period, ignoring any adjustment pursuant
to Condition 5(b) (ii}.

“TARGET System’ means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer
(TARGET) System or any successor thereto.

{1y Calculation Agent and Reference Banks:

The Issuer shall procure that there shall at all times be four Reference Banks {or such other number as
may be required) with offices in the Relevant Financial Centre and one or more Calculation Agents if
provision is made for them hereon and for 0 long as any Note is outstanding. If any Reference Bank
{acting through its relevant office) is unable or unwilling to continue to act as a Reference Bank, then the
Issuer shall (with the prior approval of the Trustee) appoint another Reference Bank with an ¢ffice in the
Relevant Financial Centre to act as such in its place. Where more than one Calculation Agent is appointed
in respect of the Notes, references in these Conditions to the Calculation Agent shall be construed as
each Calculation Agent performing its respective duties under the Conditions. If the Calcutation Agent is
unable ar unwilling to act as such or if the Calculation Agent fails duly to establish the Interest Rate for an
Interest Period or to calculate any Interest Amount, Instalment Amount, Final Redemption Amount, Early
Redemption Amount or Optional Redemption Amount, as the case may be, or to comply with any cther
requirement, the Issuer shall (with the prior approval of the Trustee) appoint a leading bank or
investment banking firm engaged in the interbank market {or, if appropriate, money, swap or over-the-
counter index options market) that is most closely connected with the calculation or determination to be
made by the Calculation Agent {acting through Its principal Londan office or any ather office actively
involved in such market) to act as such in its place. The Calculation Agent may not resign its duties
without a successor having been appointed as aforesaid.

6. Redemption, Purchase and Options
{a)} Redemption by Instalments and Final Redemption:

(i} Unless previously redeemed, purchased and cancelled as provided in this Condition 6 or the relevant
Instalment Date {being one of the dates so specified hereon) is extended pursuant to any Issuer’s or
Noteholder's option in accordance with Condition 6(d) or 6(e), each Note that provides for
Instalment Dates and instalment Amounts shall be partially redeemed on each Instalment Date at the
related Instalment Amount specified hereon. The outstanding principal amount of each such Note
shall be reduced by the Instaiment Amount (or, if such Instalment Amount is calculated by reference
to a proportion of the nominal amount of such Note, such proportion) for all purposes with effect from
the related Instalment Date, unless payment of the Instalment Amount is improperly withiheld or
refused on presentation of the related Receipt, in which case, such amount shall remain outstanding
until the Relevant Date refating to such Instalment Amount.

{ily Unless previously redeemed, purchased and cancelled as provided below or its maturity is extended
pursuant to any Issuer’s or Noteholder’s option in accordance with Condition 8(d} or 6(e), each
Note shall be finally redeemed on the Maturity Date specified hereon at its Final Redemption Amount
{which, unless otherwise provided hereon, is its principal amount} or, in the case of a Note falling
within paragraph (i) above, its final Instalment Amount.

19




(b) Early Redemption Zero Coupon:
{i} Zero Coupon Notes:

{A) The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note, the Early
Redemption Amount of which is not linked to an index and/or a formula, upon redemption of
such Note pursuant to Condition 6(c) or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in
Condition 10 shall be the Amortised Face Amount (calculated as provided below) of such
Note unless otherwise specified hereon,

{B) Subject to the provisions of sub-paragraph (C) below, the Amortised Face Amount of any
such Note shall be the scheduled Final Redemgption Amount of such Note on the Maturity Date
discounted at a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation Yield
{which, if none is shown herecn, shall be such rate as would produce an Amortised Face
Amount equal to the issue price of such Note if it were discounted back to its fssue price on the
Issue Date) compounded annually.

{C) If the Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any such Note upon its redemption
pursuant to Condition §{c) or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 10
is not paid when due, the Early Redemption Amount due and payable in respect of such Note
shall be the Amortised Face Amount of such Note as defined in sub-paragraph (B) above,
except that such sub-paragraph shall have effect as though the reference therein to the date
on which the Note becomes cue and payable were replaced by a reference to the Relevant
Date. The calculation of the Amortised Face Amount in accordance with this sub-paragraph
shall continue to be made (as well after as before judgment}) until the Relevant Date, unless
the Relevant Date fails on or after the Maturity Date, in which case the amount due and payable
shall be the scheduled Final Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity Date together
with any interest that may accrue in accordance with Condition 5(c).

Where such calculation is to be a made for a period of less than one year, it shall be made on the basis of
the Day Count Fraction shown hereon.

(i) Other Notes:

The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Note (other than Notes described in (i) above),
upon redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 8{c} or upon it becoming due and payable as
provided in Condition 10, shall be the Final Redemption Amount unless otherwise specified hereon.

(c) Redemption for Taxation Reasons:

The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, on any Interest Payment
Date or, if so specified hereon, at any time, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 80 days’ notice to
the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable} at their Early Redemption Amount (as described in
Condition 6(b) above) (together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption), if (i} the Issuer
[or, if the Guarantee were called, the Guarantor,]' satisfies the Trustee immediately before the giving of
such notice that it has or will become obiged to pay additional amounts as described under Condition 8
as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of the United Kingdom or any
political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or any change in the
application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, which .change or amendment becomes
effective on or after the Issue Date, and (ii) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer [ (or the
Guarantor, as the case may be)]' taking reasonable measures available to it, provided that no such
notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer [ (or
the Guarantor, as the case may be} ]‘ would be obliged to pay such additional amounts were a payment
in respect of the Notes [ (or the Guaran-ee, as the case may be) 1" then due. Before the publication of
any notice of redemption pursuant to this paragraph, the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate
signed by two directors of the lssuer [({or the Guarantor, as the case may be)]' stating that the
obligation referred to in (i) above cannot be avoided by the Issuer [ (or the Guarantor, as the case may
be)]' taking reasonable measures available to it and the Trustee shall be entitled to accept such

! This text will only appear on Notes issued by an issuer other than Marks and Spencer p.l.c.
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certificate as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of the condition precedent set out in (ii} above in
which event it shall be conclusive and binding on Notehelders and Couponholders.

(d} Redemption at the Option of the Issuer and Exercise of Issuer's Options:

[f Call Option is specified herecn, the Issuer may, on giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 days
irrevocable notice to the Noteholders {or such other notice period as may be specified hereon) redeem,
or exercise any issuer’s option (as may be described hereon) in relation to, all or, if so provided, some of
the Notes on any Optional Redemption Date or Option Exercise Date, as the case may be, Any such
redemption of Notes shall be at their Optional Redemption Amount together with interest accrued to the
date fixed for redemption. Any such redemption or exercise must relate to Notes of a nominal amount at
least equal to the minimum neminal amount to be redeemed specified hereon and no greater than the
maximum nominal amount to be redeemed specified hereon.

All Notes in respect of which any such notice is given shall be redeemed, or the Issuer's option shall be
exercised, on the date specified in such notice in accordance with this Condition.

In the case of a partial redemption or a partial exercise of an Issuer’s option, the notice to Noteholders
shall also contain the certificate numbers of the Notes to be redeemed or in respect of which such option
has been exercised, which shall have been drawn in such place as the Trustee may approve and in such
manner as it deems appropriate, subject to compliance with any appiicable laws and stock exchange
requirements.

(e) Redemption at the Option of Noteholders and Exercise of Neteholders’ Options:

If Put Option is specified hereon, the Issuer shall, at the option of the holder of any such Note, upon the
holder of such Note giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 days’ notice to the Issuer (or such other
notice period as may be specified hereon) redeem such Note on the Optional Redemption Date(s} at its
OCptional Redemption Amount together, if appropriate, with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date
fixed for redemption.

To exercise such option or any other Noteholders’ option that may be set out hereon (which must be
exercised on an Option Exercise Date) the holder must deposit (in the case of Bearer Notes) such Note
(together with all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and unexchanged Talons} with any Paying Agent or
(in the case of Registered Notes) the Certificate representing such Note(s) with the Registrar or any
Transfer Agent at its specified office, together with a duly completed option exercise notice (“'Exercise
Notice™) in the form obtainable from any Paying Agent, the Registrar or any Transfer Agent (as
applicable) within the notice period. No Note or Certificate so deposited and option exercised may be
withdrawn {except as provided in the Agency Agreement} without the prior consent of the Issuer except
that such Note will be returned to the holder if, prior to its date for redemption or exercise of the option,
the Note becomes immediately payable or if upon presentation payment of redemption monies is not
made or exercise of the option is denied or refused.

(f} Partly Paid Notes:

Partly Paid Notes will be redeemed, whether at maturity, early redemption or otherwise, in accordance
with the provisions of this Condition and the provisions specified hereon.

(g) Purchases:

The Issuer[, its Holding Company (as defined in the Trust Deed)]? [, the Guarantor, its Hoiding
Company (as defined in the Trust Deed) 1’ [and any of [the Guarantor's other]' [its]® Subsidiaries (as
defined in the Trust Deed} ] may at any time purchase Notes (provided that all unmatured Receipts and
Coupons and unexchanged Talons refating thereto are attached thereto or surrendered therewith) in the
open market or otherwise in any manner and at any price.

' This text will only appear on Notes issued by an Issuer other than Marks and Spencer p.l.c.

2 This text will only appear on Notes issued by Marks and Spencer p.l.c.
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{h} Cancellation:

All Notes purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer(, its Holding Company (as defined in the Trust Deed) |
[, the Guarantor, its Holding Company {as defined in the Trust Deed) J° or any of its Subsidiaries (as
defined in the Trust Deed) may be surrendered for cancellation, in the case of Bearer Notes, by
surrendering each such Note together with all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and all unexchanged
Talons to the Issuing and Paying Agent and, in the case of Registered Notes, by surrendering the
Certificate representing such Notes to the Registrar and, in each case, if so surrendered, shall, together
with all Notes redeemed by the lssuer, be cancelled forthwith (together with all unmatured Receipts and
Coupons and unexchanged Talons attached thereto or surrendered therewith). Any Notes so
surrendered for cancellation may not be reissued or resold and the obhgattons of the 1ssuer [and the
Guarantor]' in respect of any such Notes shall be discharged.

7. Payments and Talons
(a) Bearer Notes:

Payments of principal and interest in respect of Bearer Notes shall, subject as mentioned below, be made
against presentation and surrender of the relevant Receipts (in the case of payments of Instalment
Amounts other than on the due date for redemption and provided that the Receipt is presented for
payment together with its relative Note ), Notes (in the case of all other payments of principal and, in the
case of interest, as specified in Condition 7{f) (vi}) or Coupons (in the case of interest, save as
specified in Condition 7 (f} (ii) }, as the case may be, at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside
the United States by a cheque payable in the relevant currency drawn on, or, at the option of the holder,
by transfer to an account denominated in such currency with, a bank in the principal financial centre for
such currency or, in the case of euro, in a city In which banks have access to the TARGET System.

{b) Registered Notes:

{i) All payments in respect of Registered Notes shall be paid to the person shown on the Register
at the close of business on the fifteenth day before the due date for payment thereof (the
“Record Date''). Payments on each Registered Note shall be made in the relevant currency
drawn on a bank in the principal financial centre of the country of such currency subject as
provided in paragraph (a) above, and mailed to the holder {or to the first named of joint
holders) of such Note at its address appearing in the Register. Upon application by the holder
to the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent before the Record Date and
subject as provided in paragraph {a) above, such payment of interest may be made by
transfer to an account in the relevant currency maintained by the payee with a bank in the
principal financial centre of the country of such currency.

(i} Payments of principal {which for the purposes of this Condition 7 (b) shall include final
Instalment Amounts but not other Instalment Amounts) in respect of Registered Notes shall be
made as provided in (i) above, but only against presentation and surrender of the relevant
Certificates at the specified ofice of any of the Transfer Agents or of the Registrar.

(c) Payments in the United Stafes:

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any Bearer Notes are denominated in U.S. dollars, payments in respect
thereof may be made at the specified office of any Paying Agent in New York City in the same manner as
aforesaid if (i) the Issuer shall have appointed Paying Agents with specified offices outside the United
States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents would be able to make payment of the
amounts on the Notes in the manner provided above when due, (i) payment in full of such amounts at all
such offices is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions on
payment or receipt of such amounts and (iii} such payment is then permitted by United States law,
without involving, in the opinion of the Issuer, any adverse tax consequence to the Issuer.

' This text will only appear on Notes issued by ar Issuer other than Marks and Spencer p.l.c.

2 This text will only appear on Notes issued by Marks and Spencer p.l.c.
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(d) Payments subject to Fiscal Laws:

All payments are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws, regulations and directives, but
without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 8. No commission or expenses shall be charged to the
Noteholders or Couponholders in respect of such payments.

(e) Appointment of Agents:

The Issuing and Paying Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, the Transfer Agents and the Calculation
Agent appointed by the Issuer [and the Guarantor]® and their respective specified offices are listed
below. The Issuing and Paying Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, the Transfer Agents and the
Calculation Agent act solely as agents of the Issuer [and the Guarantor]' and do not assume any
obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with any Notehelder or Couponholder. The Issuer [and
the Guarantor reserve]1 [reserves]? the right at any time with the prior approval of the Trustee to vary or
terminate the appointment of the Issuing and Paying Agent, any other Paying Agent, the Registrar, any
Transfer Agent or the Calculation Agent and to appoint additional or other Paying Agents or Transfer
Agents, provided that the Issuer shall at all times maintain (i) an lssuing and Paying Agent, (ii) a
Registrar in relation to Registered Notes, (iii) a Transfer Agent in relation to Registered Notes, (iv} one or
more Calculation Agent({s) where the Conditions so require, (v) Paying Agents having specified offices
in at least two major European cities (including London, so long as the Notes are listed on the official list
of the Financial Services Authority in its capacity as competent authority under the Financial Services and
Markets Act 2000 and admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s market for listed securities),
(vi} such other agents as may be required by any other stock exchange on which the Notes may be
listed in each case, as approved by the Trustee and (vii) if the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council
meeting of 26th-27th November, 2000 are implemented, a Paying Agent with a specified office in a
European Union member state that will not be obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to any
European Union Directive on the taxation of savings implementing those conclusions or any law
implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive PROVIDED THAT
under no circumstances shall the lssuer {or Guarantor]’ be obliged to maintain a Paying Agent with a
specified office in such a European Union member state unless at least one European Union member
state does not require a Paying Agent making payments through a specified office in that member state
to so withhold or deduct tax.

in addition, the Issuer [and the Guarantor}’ shall forthwith appoint a Paying Agent in New York City in
respect of any Bearer Notes denominated in U.S. dollars in the circumstances described in
paragraph (¢} above.

Notice of any such change or any change of any specified office shall promptly be given to the
Noteholders.

(f} Unmatured Coupons and Receipts and unexchanged Talons:

(i) Unless the Notes provide that the relative Coupons are to became void upon the due date for
redemption of those Notes, Bearer Notes should be surrendered for payment together with all
unmatured Coupons (if any) relating thereto, failing which an amount equal to the face value of each
missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being made in full, that proportion of the
amount of such missing unmatured Coupon that the sum of principal so paid bears to the total
principal due) shall be deducted from the Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount or
Optionat Redemption Amount, as the case may be due for payment. Any amount so deducted shall
be paid in the manner mentioned above against surrender of such missing Coupon within a period of
10 years from the Relevant Date for the payment of such principal {whether or not such Coupon has
become vaid pursuant to Condition 9).

(ii) if the Notes so provide, upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note, unmatured Coupons
relating to such Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and ne payment shall be made in
respect of them.

! This text will only appear on Notes issued by an Issuer other than Marks and Spencer p.l.c.

Z This text will only appear on Notes issued by Marks and Spencer pl.c.
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(iii} Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note, any unexchanged Talon relating to such Note
{whether or not attached) shall become void and no Coupon shall be delivered in respect of such
Talon.

(iv) Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note that is redeemable in instalments, all Receipts
relating to such Note having an Instaiment Date falling on or after such due date (whether or not
attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in respect of them.

{v) Where any Bearer Note that provides that the relative unmatured Coupons are to become void upon
the due date for redemption of those Notes is presented for redemption without all unmatured
Coupons and any unexchanged Talon relating to it, and where any Bearer Note is presented for
redemption without any unexchanged Talon relating to it, redemption shall be made only against the
pravision of such indemnity as the Issuer may reasonably require.

(vi) If the due date for redemption of any Note is not a due date for payment of interest, interest (if any)
accrued from the preceding due date for payment of interest or the Interest Commencement Date,
as the case may be, shall only be payable against presentation (and surrender if appropriate) of the
relevant Bearer Note or Certificate representing it, as the case may be. Interest accrued on a Note
that only bears interest after its Maturity Date shall be payable on redemption of such Note against
prasentation of the relevant Note or Certificate representing it, as the case may be,

{g) Talons:

On or after the Interest Payment Date for the final Coupon forming part of a Coupon sheet issued in
respect of any Bearer Note, the Talon {if any) forming part of such Coupon sheet may be surrendered at
the specified office of the lssuing and Paying Agent in exchange for a further Coupon sheet {and if
necessary another Talon for a further Coupon sheet) {but excluding any Coupons that may have become
void pursuant to Condition 9}.

{h} Non-Business Days:

If any date for payment in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon is not a business day, the holder shail
not be entitled to payment until the next following business day nor to any interest or other sum in respect
of such postponed payment. In this paragraph, “‘business day’’ means a day (other than a Saturday or a
Sunday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in the relevant place of
presentation, in such jurisdictions as shall be specified as *'Additional Financial Centres” hereon and:

(i} (inthe case of a payment in a currency other than euro) where payment is to be made by transfer to
an account maintained with a bank in the relevant currency, on which foreign exchange transactions -
may be carried on in the relevant carrency in the principal financial centre of the country of such
currency which, in the case of Australian Dollars shall be Melbourne or, in the case of New Zealand
Dollars shall be ¥Wellington, or ' ‘

(i) (in the case of a payment in euro} which is a TARGET Business Day.

8. Taxation

All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes, the Receipts and the Coupons [or under
the Guarantee]® shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, or on account
of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature
imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or on behalf of the lssuer [or the Guarantor]” within
the United Kingdom or any political subdivision thereof or any authority therein or thereof having power to
tax, unjess such withholding or deduction is required by law. In that event, the Issuer [or, as the case
may be, the Guarantor]' shall pay such additional amounts as shall result in receipt by the Noteholders
and Couponholders of such amounts as would have been received by them had no such withhalding or

! This text will only appear on Notes igsued by an lssuer other than Marks and Spencer p.lc.
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deduction been required, except that no such additional amounts shall be payable with respect to any
Note, Receipt or Coupon:

(a) Other connection, etc: 1o, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder who is liable to such taxes,
duties, assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Note, Receipt or Coupon by reason
of his having some connection with the United Kingdom or any political subdivision thereof or any
authority therein or thereof other than the mere holding of the Note, Receipt or Coupon; or

(b)Y Statutory requirements and /or declarations of non-residence: Presented for payment by a holder
who would have been able to avoid such withholding or deduction by satisfying any statutory
requirements and/or by making a declaration of non-residence or ather similar claim for exemption
but, in either case, fails to do so; or

{c) Presentation more than 30 days after the Relevant Date: presented (or in respect of which the
Certificate representing it is presented) for payment more than 30 days after the Relevani Date
except to the extent that the holder of it would have been entitled to such additional amounts on
presenting it for payment on the thirtieth day; or

(d) Payment to individuals: where such withholding or deduction is imposed on a payment to an
individual and is required to be made pursuant to any European Union Directive on the taxation of
savings implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting of 26-27th November, 2000
or any law implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive; or

(e} Payment to another Paying Agent: {except in the case of registered Notes)} presented for payment
by or on behalf of a Noteholder or a Couponholder who would have been able to avoid such
withholding or deduction by presenting the relevant Note or Coupon to ancther Paying Agent in a
Member State of the European Union.

As used in these Conditions, “Relevant Date™ in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon means the date
on which payment in respect of it first becomes due or (if any amount of the money payable is improperly
withheld or refused) the date on which payment in full of the amount outstanding is made or (if earlier)
the date seven days after that on which notice is duly given to the Noteholders that, upon further
presentation of the Note (or relative Certificate}, Receipt or Coupon being made in accordance with the
Conditions, such payment will be made, provided that payment is in fact made upon such presentation.
References in these Conditions to (i) "'principal’ shall be deemed 1o include any premium payable in
respect of the Notes, all Instalment Amounts, Final Redemption Amounts, Early Redemption Amounts,
Optional Redemption Amounts, Amortised Face Amounts and all other amounts in the nature of principal
payable pursuant to Condition 6 or any amendment or supplement to it, (if} “interest” shall be deemed
to include all Interest Amounts and all other amounts payable pursuant to Condition 5 or any amendment
or supplement to it and (iii) “'principal’’ and/or “interest’ shall be deemed to include any additional
amounts that may be payable under this Condition or any undertaking given in addition to or in
substitution for it under the Trust Deed,

9. Prescription

Claims against the Issuer [and/or the Guarantor]' for payment in respect of the Notes, Receipts and
Coupons (which, for this purpose, shall not include Talons) shall be prescribed and become void unless
made within 10 years (in the case of principal) or five years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate
Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 8) in respect of them,

There shall not he included in any sheet of Coupons issued on exchange of a Talon any Coupon the claim
for payment in respect of which would be prescribed pursuant to this Condition 9 or Condition 7 () or any
Talon which would be prescribed pursuant to this Condition 9 or Condition 7 ().

10. Events of Default

If any of the following events (“Events of Default’’} occurs, the Trustee at its discretion may, and if so
requested by holders of at least one-fifth in nominal amount of the Notes then outstanding or if so

! This text will only appear on Notes issued by an Issuer other than Marks and Spencer p..c.
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directed by an Extraordinary Resolution shall {subject in each case to being indemnified to its
satisfaction}, give netice to the Issuer that the Notes are, and they shall immediately become, due and
payable at their Early Redemption Amount together with accrued interest as provided in the Trust Deed:

(i) Non-Payment:

if default is made for a period of ten business days or more in the payment of any principal or interest due
in respect of the Notes or any of them and for this purpose a “business day” shall mean a day on which
banks are open for business in London; or

(i} Breach of Other Obligations:

If the Issuer fails to perform or observe any of its other obligations under the Notes or the Trust Deed [or
the Guarantor fails to perform or observe any of its obligations under the Trust Deed]' and (except where
in any such case the Trustee considers such failure to be incapable of remedy when no such notice as is
hereinafter mentioned will be required) such failure continues for the period of 30 days (or such longer
period as the Trustee may permit) next following the service by the Trustee on the Issuer [or the
Guarantor (as the case may be) 1* of notice requiring the same to be remedied; or

{iii) Cross-Default:

Any loan or other indebtedness for borrowed money of the Issuer [or the Guarantor]' amounting in
aggregate to not less than £20,000,000 or its equivalent in other currencies becomes due and repayable
prematurely by reason of an event of default (however described) or the Issuer {or the Guarantor]® fails
to make payment in respect thereof on the due date for such payment as extended by any applicable
grace period as originally provided or the security for any such loan or other indebtedness for borrowed
money becomes enforceable and steps are taken to enforce the same or if default is made by the lssuer
[or the Guarantor]' in making any payment due under any guarantee and/or Indemnity given by it in
respect of any loan or other indebtedness for borrowed maoney amounting in aggregate to not less than
£20,000,000 or its equivalent in other currencies save in any such case to the extent that the Issuer [or
the Guarantor, as the case may be, ]’ satisfies the Trustee that there is a bona fide dispute as to whether
payment or repayment is due; or

(iv) Enforcement Proceedings:

If any order is made by a competent court or resclution passed for winding up, or an administration order
is made in relation to, the Issuer [or the Guarantor]’ or if the Issuer [or the Guarantor]” stops payment of
its obligations generally or ceases to carry on its business or substantially all thereof except that a
winding up or a stopping of payment or cessation of business for the purpose of a reconstruction or
amalgamation of the Issuer [or the Guarantor],' the terms of which have previously been approved in
writing by the Trustee, shall not constitute an Event of Default; or

(v} Security Enforced:

If an encumbrancer takes possession or an administrative or other receiver is appointed of the whole or
any material part of the assets of the Issuer [or the Guarantor]® or if a distress or execution is levied or
enforcad upon or sued out against any material part of the assets of the Issuer [or the Guarantor]' and is
not removed, discharged or paid out within 60 days;

(vi) Insolvency:

If the Issuer Jor the Guarantor]® is unable to pay its debts within the meaning of section 123 of the
Insolvency Act 1986 of Great Britain or makes a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors [; or

(vii) Guarantes:

The Guarantee is not {or is claimed by the Guarantor not to be} in full force and effect in any material
respect]’.

! This text will onfy appear on Notes issued by ar Issuer other than Marks and Spencer p.l.c.
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Provided that in the case of any such events except those described in sub-paragraph (i) above, the
Trustee shall have certified that in iis opinion such event is materially prejudicial to the interests of the
Noteholders.

11. Enforcement

The Trustee may, at its discretion and without further notice, institute such proceedings against the
Issuer [and/or the Guarantorl® as it may think fit to enforce any obligation, condition or provision binding
on the Issuer [and/or the Guarantor]' under the Notes or under the Trust Deed, but shall not be bound
o do so unless:

(i} it has been so directed by an Extracrdinary Resolution or in writing by the holders of at least one fifth
of the principal amount of the Notes outstanding; and

(i) it has been indemnified to its satisfaction.

No Noteholder, Receiptholder or Couponholder shall be entitled to institute proceedings directly against
the lssuer [and/for the Guarantor]’ unless the Trustee, having become bound to proceed as aforesaid,
fails to do so within a reasonable time and such failure is continuing.

12. Meetings of Noteholders, Modification, Waiver and Substitution
(a) Meetings of Noteholders:

The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of Noteholders to consider any matter
affecting their interests, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust
Deed) of a modification of any of these Conditicns or any provisions of the Trust Deed. Such a meeting
may be convened by Noteholders holding not less than 10 per cent in nominal amount of the Notes for the
time being outstanding. The quorum for any meeting convened te consider an Extraordinary Resolution
shall be one or more persons holding or representing a clear majority in nominal amount of the Notes for
the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting one or more persons being or representing
Noteholders whatever the nominal amount of the Notes held or represented, unless the business of such
meeting includes consideration of proposals, inter alia, (i) to amend the dates of maturity or redemption
of the Notes, any Instalment Date or any date for payment of interest or Interest Amounts on the Notes,
{ii} to reduce or cancel the nominal amount of, or any Instalment Amount of, or any premium payable on
redemption of, the Notes, (iii) to reduce the rate or rates of interest in respect of the Notes or to vary the
method or basis of calculating the rate or rates or amount of interest or the basis for calculating any
Interest Amount in respect of the Notes, (iv} if 2 Minimum and/or a Maximum Interest Rate, Instalment
Amount or Redemption Amount is shown hereon, to reduce any such Minimum and/or Maximum, (v) to
vary any method of, or basis for, calculating the Final Redemption Amount, the Early Redemption Amount
or the Optional Redemption Amount, including the method of calculating the Amortised Face Amount,
(vi} to vary the currency or currencies of payment or denomination of the Notes, (vii) to take any steps
that as specified hereon may only be taken following approval by an Extraordinary Resolution to which the
special quorum provisions apply, or (viii) to modify the provisions concerning the quorum required at any
meeting of Noteholders or the majority required to pass the Extraordinary Resolution, [or (ix)} to modify
or cancel the Guarantee,]' in which case the necessary quorum shall be one or more persons holding or
representing not less than two-thirds, or at any adjourned meeting not less than one-third, in nominal
amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding. Any Extraordinary Resolution duly passed shall be
binding on Noteholders (whether or not they were present at the meeting at which such resolution was
passed) and on all Couponholders.

These Conditions may be amended, modified or varied in relation to any Series of Notes by the terms of
the relevant Pricing Supplement in relation fo such Series.

{b) Modification of the Trust Deed:

The Trustee may agree, without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders, to (i) any modification
of any of the provisicns of the Trust Deed that is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to

' This text will only appear on Notes issued by an Issuer other than Marks and Spencer p.l.c.
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correct a manifest error, and (ii) any other modification (except as mentioned in the Trust Deed), and
any waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach, of any of the provisions of the Trust Deed
that is in the opinion of the Trustee not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders. Any such
modification, authorisation or waiver shall be binding on the Noteholders and the Couponholders and, if
the Trustee so requires, such modification shall be notified to the Noteholders as soon as practicable.

(c) Substitution:

The Trust Deed contains provisions permitting the Trustee to agree, subject to such amendment of the
Trust Deed and such other conditions as the Trustee may require, but without the consent of the
Noteholders or the Coupenholders, to the substitution of any other company in place of the Issuer [or
Guarantor]', or of any previous substituted company, as principal debtor [or Guarantor]’ under the Trust
Deed and the Notes. In the case of such a substitution the Trustee may agree, without the consent of the
Noteholders or the Couponholders, to a change of the law governing the Notes, the Receipts, the
Coupons, the Talons and/or the Trust Deed provided that such change would not in the opinion of the
Trustee be materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders.

{d) Entitlement of the Trustee:

In connection with the exercise of its functions (including but not limited to those referred to in this
Condition) the Trustee shall have regard to the interests of the Noteholders as a class and shall not have
regard to the consequences of such exercise for individual Noteholders or Couponholders and the
Trustee shall not be entitled to require, nor shall any Noteholder or Couponholder be entitled to claim,
from the Issuer [or the Guarantor]® any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequence of
any such exercise upon individual Noteholders or Couponholders.

13. Replacement of Notes, Certificates, Receipts, Coupons and Talons

If a Note, Certificate, Receipt, Coupon or Talon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be
replaced, subject to applicable laws, regufations and stock exchange regulations, at the specified office
of the Issuing and Paying Agent (in the case of Bearer Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons) and of the
Registrar {in the case of Certlficates) or such other Paying Agent or Transfer Agent, as the case may be,
as may from time to time be designated by the lssuer for the purpose and natice of whose designation is
given to Noteholders, in each case on payment by the claimant of the fees and costs incurred in
connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence, security and indemnity (which may provide, inter
alia, that if the allegedly lost, stolen or destroyed Note, Certificate, Receipt, Coupon or Talon is
subsequently presented for payment or, as the case may be, for exchange for further Coupons, there
shail be paid to the Issuer on demand the amount payable by the Issuer in respect of such Notes,
Certificates, Receipts, Coupons or further Coupons) and otherwise as the Issuer may require. Mutilated
or defaced Notes, Certificates, Receipts. Coupons or Talons must be surrendered before replacements
will be issued.

14. Further Issues

The issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Neteholders or Couponholders create and
issue further securities either having the same terms and conditions as the Notes in all respects {or in all
respects except for the first payment of interest on them) and so that such further issue shall be
consolidated and form a single series with the outstanding securities of any series (including the Notes)
or upon such terms as the Issuer may determine at the time of their issue. References in these Conditions
to the Notes include (unless the context requires otherwise) any other securities issued pursuant to this
Condition and forming a single series witn the Notes. References in these Condlitions to “Notes’ shall be
construed accordingly. Any further securities forming a single series with the outstanding securities of
any series (including the Notes) constituted by the Trust Deed or any deed supplemental to it shall, and
any other securities may (with the consent of the Trustee), be constituted by the Trust Deed. The Trust
Deed contains provisions for convening a single meeting of the Noteholders and the holders of securities
of other series where the Trustee so decides.

! This text will only appear on Notes issued by an lssuer other than Marks and Spencer p.l.c.
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15. Indemnification of Trustee

The Trust Deed contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and for its refief from
responsibility, including provisions relieving it from any obligation to take proceedings to enforce
repayment unless indemnified to its satisfaction. The Trustee is entitled to enter into business
transactions with the Issuer [, the Guarantor] ar any other person without accounting for any profit
resulting therefrom and to act as trustee for the holders of any other securities by the Issuer [or the
Guarantor] " or any other person without accounting for any profit resulting therefrom.

16. Notices

Notices to the holders of Registered Notes shall be mailed to them at their respective addresses in the
Register and deemed to have been given on the fourth weekday (being a day other than a Saturday or a
Sunday} after the date of mailing. Natices to the holders of Bearer Notes shall be valid if published in a
daily English language newspaper of general circulation in London (which is expected to be the Financial
Times). Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication cr, if
published more than once or on different dates, on the first date on which publication is made, as
provided above, If publication as aforesaid is not practicable, notice will be given in such other manner,
and will be deemed to have been given on such date, as the Trustes may approve. Couponholders shall
be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice given to the holders of Bearer
Notes in accordance with this Condition.

17. Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

No person shall have any right to enfarce any term or condition of the Notes under the Contracts (Rights
of Third Parties) Act 1999 except and to the extent (if any) that the Notes expressly provide for such Act
to apply to any of their terms.

18. Governing Law

The Trust Deed, the Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons and the Talons are governed by, and shall be
construed in accordance with, English law.

' This text will only appear on Notes issued by an Issuer other than Marks and Spencer p.l.c.
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SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES WHILE IN GLOBAL FORM

Initial Issue of Notes

Upon the initial deposit of a Global Note with a comman depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg (the "“Common Depositary’'} or registration of Registered Notes in the name of any
nominee for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and delivery of the relative Global Certificate to the
Common Depositary, Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg will credit each subscriber with a nominal
amount of Notes equal to the nominal amount thereof for which it has subscribed and paid.

Notes that are initially deposited with the Common Depositary may also be credited to the accounts of
subscribers with (if indicated in the relevant Pricing Supplement) other clearing systems through direct
or indirect accounts with Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg held by such other clearing systems.
Conversely, Notes that are initially deposited with any other clearing system may similarly be credited to
the accounts of subscribers with Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or other clearing systems.

Relationship of Accounthoiders with Clearing Systems

Each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other clearing
system as the holder of a Note represented by a Global Note or a Global Certificate must lock sclely to
Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or such clearing system (as the case may be) for his share of each
payment made by the relevant lssuer or the Guarantor (where relevant) to the bearer of such Global
Note or the holder of the underlying Registered Notes, as the case may be, and in relation to all other
rights arising under the Global Notes or Global Certificates, subject to and in accordance with the
respective rules and procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or such clearing system (as the
case may be). Such persons shall have no claim directly against the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor
{where relevant) in respect of payments due on the Notes for so long as the Notes are represented by
such Global Note or Global Certificate and such obligations of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor {where
relevant) will be discharged by payment to the bearer of such Global Note or the holder of the underlying
Registered Notes represented by such Global Certificate, as the case may be, in respect of each amount
80 paid. :

Exchange

1 Temporary Global Notes. Each temperary Global Note will be exchangeable, free of charge to
the holder, on or after its Exchange Date:

1.1 if the relevant Pricing Supplement indicates that such Global Note is issued in compliance with
the C Rules or in a transaction to which TEFRA is not applicable (as to which, see “'Summary of the
Programme-Selling Restrictions’'), in whole, but not in part, for the Definitive Notes defined and
described below and

1.2 otherwise, in whole or in part upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership in the form
set out in the Agency Agreement far interests in a permanent Global Note or, if so provided in the
relevant Pricing Supplement, for Definitive Notes,

Each temporary Global Note that is also an Exchangeable Bearer Note will be exchangeable for
Registered Notes in accordance with the Conditions in addition to any permanent Global Note or
Definitive Notes for which it may be exchangeable and, before its Exchange Dats, will also be
exchangeable in whole or in part for Registered Notes only.

2 Permanent Global Notes. Each permanent Global Note wili be exchangeable, free of charge to
the holder, on or after its Exchange Date in whole but not, except as provided under “Partial
Exchange of Permanent Global Notes™, in part for Definitive Notes or, in the case of 2.3 below,
Registered Notes:

2.1 unless principat in respect of any Notes is not paid when due, by the Issuer giving notice to the
Global Noteholders, the Issuing and Paying Agent and the Trustee of its intention to effect such
exchange
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2.2 if the relevant Pricing Supplement provides that such Global Note is exchangeable at the
request of the holder, by the holder giving notice to the Issuing and Paying Agent of its election for
such exchange

2.3 if the permanent Global Note is an Exchangeable Bearer Note, by the holder giving notice to
the lssuing and Paying Agent of its election to exchange the whole or a part of such Global Note for
Registered Notes and

2.4 otherwise, if the permanent Global Note is held on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream,
Luxembourg ar any other clearing systerh (an "Alternative Clearing System”} and any such clearing
system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays,
statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or in fact does so.

2.5 in addition, where the relevant Pricing Supplement does not provide that the permanent Global
Note is exchangeable at the request of the holder, it will nevertheless be exchangeabile for Definitive
Notes at the cost of the holder. In such circumstances the first accountholder with Euroclear or
Clearstream, Luxembourg wishing to request such exchange will be required to bear the entire cost
of such exchange, not just the cost attributable to the portion of such accountholder’s interest in
such permanent Global Note.

3 Permanent Global Certificates. If the Pricing Supplement states that the Notes are to be
represented by a permanent Global Certificate on issue, the following will apply in respect of
transfers of Notes held in Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or an Alternative Clearing System,
These provisions will not prevent the trading of interests in the Notes within a clearing system whilst
they are held on behalf of such clearing system, but will limit the circumstances in which the Notes
may be withdrawn from the relevant clearing system.

Transfers of the holding of Notes represented by any Global Certificate pursuant to Condition 2(b)
may only be made in part:

3.1 if the Notes represented by the Global Certificate are held on behalf of Eurcclear or
Clearstream, Luxembourg or an Alternative Clearing System and any such clearing system is closed
for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of helidays, statutory or
otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or does in fact do so or

3.2 if principal in respect of any Notes is not paid when due or
3.3 with the consent of the Issuer

provided that, in the case of the first transfer of part of a holding pursuant to 3.1 or 3.2 above, the
Registered Holder has given the Registrar not less than 30 days’ notice at its specified office of the
Registered Holder's intention to effect such transfer.

4 Partial Exchange of Permanent Global Notes.  For so long as a permanent Global Note is held on
behalf of a clearing system and the rules of that clearing system permit, such permanent Global Note
will be exchangeable in part on one or more occasions (1) for Registered Notes if the permanent
Global Note is an Exchangeable Bearer Note and the part submitted for exchange is to be
exchanged for Registered Notes, or (2) for Definitive Notes ([) if principal in respect of any Notes is
not paid when due or {ii) if so provided in, and in accordance with, the Conditions (which will be set
out in the relevant Pricing Supplement) relating to Partly Paid Notes.

5 Deflivery of Notes. On or after any due date for exchange the holder of a Global Note may
surrender such Global Naote or, in the case of a partial exchange, present it for endorsement to or to
the order of the Issuing and Paying Agent. In exchange for any Global Note, or the part thereof to be
exchanged, the lssuing and Paying Agent will (i) in the case of a temporary Global Note
exchangeable for a permanent Global Note, deliver, or procure the delivery of, a permanent Global
Note in an aggregate nominal amount equal to that of the whole or that part of a temporary Global
Note that is being exchanged or, in the case of a subsequent exchange, endorse, or procure the
endorsement of, a permanent Giobal Note to reflect such exchange or (i) in the case of a Global
Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes or Registered Notes, deliver, or procure the delivery of, an
equal aggregate nominal amount of duly executed and authenticated Definitive Notes and/or
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Certificates, as the case may be. In this Offering Circular, "Definitive Notes™ means, in relation to any
Global Note, the definitive Bearer Notes for which such Global Note may be exchanged
(if appropriate, having attached to them all Coupons and Receipts in respect of interest or
Instalment Amounts that have not already been paid on the Global Note and a Talon). Definitive
Notes will be security printed and Certificates will be printed in accordance with any applicable legal
and stock exchange requirements in or substantially in the form set out in the Schedules to the Trust
Deed. On exchange in full of each permanent Global Note, the Issuing and Paying Agent will, if the
holder so requests, procure that it is cancelled and returned to the holder together with the relevant
Definitive Notes.

6 Exchange Date. "Exchange Dale' means, in relation to a temporary Global Note, the day falling
after the expiry of 40 days after its issue date and, in relation t¢ a permanent Global Note, a day
falling not less than 60 days, or in th2 case of an exchange for Registered Notes five days, after that
on which the notice requiring exchange is given and on which banks are open for business in the city
in which the specified office of the Issuing and Paying Agent is located and in the city in which the
relevant clearing system is located.

Amendment to Conditions

The temporary Global Notes, permanent Global Notes and Global Certificates contain provisions that
apply to the Notes that they represent, some of which modify the effect of the terms and conditions of the
Notes set out in this Offering Circular. The following is a summary of certain of those provisions:

1 Payments. No payment falling due after the Exchange Date will be made on any Global Note
unless exchange for an interest in a permanent Global Note or for Definitive Notes of Registered
Notes is improperly withheld or refused. Payments on any temporary Global Note issued in
compliance with the D Rules before the Exchange Date will onty be made against presentation of
certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership in the form set out in the Agency Agreement. All
payments in respect of Notes represented by a Global Note will be made against presentation for
endorsement and, if no further payment falls to be made in respect of the Notes, surrender of that
Global Note to or to the order of the Issuing and Paying Agent or such other Paying Agent as shall
have been notified to the Noteholders for such purpose. A record of each payment so made will be
endorsed on each Global Note, which endorsement will be prima facie evidence that such payment
has been made in respect of the Notes. Conditions 7 (e) (vii) and 8(d) will apply to the Definitive
Notes only.

2 Prescription. Claims against the Issuer in respect of Notes that are represented by a permanent
Global Note will become void unless it is presented for payment within a period of ten years {in the
case of principal) and five years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date (as
defined in Condition 9).

3 Meetings. The holder of a permanent Global Note or of the Notes represented by a Global
Certificate shall (unless such permanent Global Note or Global Certificate represents only one Note)
be treated as being two persons for the purposes of any querum requirements of a meeting of
Noteholders and, at any such meeting, the holder of a permanent Global Note shall be ireated as
having one vote in respect of each nominal amount of Notes equal to the minimum Specified
Denomination of Notes for which such Global Note may be exchanged. (All holders of Registered
Notes are entitted to one vote in respect of each Note comprising such Noteholder's holding,
whether or not represented by a Global Certificate.)

4 Cancellation. Cancellation of any Note represented by a permanent Global Note that is required
by the Conditions to be cancelled (other than upon its redemption) will be effected by reduction in
the nominal amount of the relevant permanent Global Note.

5 Purchase. Notes represented 2y a permanent Global Note may only be purchased by the
Issuer, the Guarantor, its holding company or any of its/their respective subsidiaries if they are
purchased together with the rights to receive all future payments of interest and instalment Amounts
{if any) thereon.
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6 [Issuer's Option. Any option of the Issuer provided for in the Conditions of any Notes while such
Notes are represented by a permanent Global Note shall be exercised by the Issuer giving notice to
the Noteholders within the time limits set out in and containing the information required by the
Conditions, except that the notice shall not be required to contain the serial numbers of Notes drawn
in the case of a partial exercise of an option and accordingly no drawing of Notes shall be required. In
the event that any option of the Issuer is exercised in respect of some but not all of the Notes of any
Series, the rights of accountholders with a clearing system in respect of the Notes will be governed
by the standard procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, or any other clearing system
(as the case may be).

7 Notehoiders’ Options.  Any option of the Noteholders provided for in the Conditions of any Notes
while such Notes are represented by a permanent Global Note may be exercised by the holder of the
permanent Global Note giving notice to the Issuing and Paying Agent within the time limits relating to
the deposit of Notes with a Paying Agent set out in the Conditions substantially in the form of the
notice available from any Paying Agent, except that the notice shall not be required to contain the
serial numbers of the Notes in respect of which the option has been exercised, and stating the
nominal amount of Notes in respect of which the option is exercised and at the same time presenting
the permanent Glcbal Note to the Issuing and Paying Agent, or to a Paying Agent acting on behalf of
the Issuing and Paying Agent, for notation.

8 Trustee’s Powers. In considering the interests of Noteholders while any Global Note is held on
behalf of, or Registered Notes are registered in the name of any nominee for, a clearing system, the
Trustee may have regard to any information provided 1o it by such clearing system or its operator as
to the identity (either individually or by category) of its accountholders with entitlements to such
Global Note or Registered Notes and may consider such interests as if such accauntholders were the
holders of the Notes represented by such Global Note or the relevant Global Certificate.

9 Nofices. So long as any Notes are represented by a Global Note and such Global Note is held
on behalf of a clearing system, notices to the holders of Notes of that Series may be given by delivery
of the relevant notice to that clearing system for communication by it to entitled accountholders in
substitution for publication as required by the Conditions or by delivery of the relevant notice to the
holder of the Globa! Note.

Partly Paid Notes

The provisions relating to Partly Paid Notes are not set out in this Offering Circular, but will be contained
in the relevant Pricing Supplement and thereby in the Global Notes. While any instaiments of the
subscription moneys due from the holder of Partly Paid Notes are overdue, no interest in a Global Note
representing such Notes may be exchanged for an interest in a permanent Global Note or for Definitive
Notes (as the case may be}. If any Noteholder fails to pay any instalment due on any Partly Paid Notes
within the fime specified, the relevant Issuer may forfeit such Notes and shall have no further obligaticn to
their holder in respect of them.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from the issue of Notes will be used for general corporate purposes of the Group,

including financial activities,

33




Marks and Spencer p.lLc.

Introduction

The business of Marks and Spencer p.l.c. was founded in 1884. It was incorporated in England in 1926
and re-registered as a public limited company in 1981 and registered with the Registrar of Companies
under registered number 00214436. On 19th March, 2002, it became a subsidiary of Marks and Spencer
Group p.l.c. under a court approved scheme of arrangement made pursuant to section 425 of the
United Kingdom Companies Act 1985. Marks and Spencer p.l.c. is wholly owned by (and the only
asset of) the holding company of the Group, Marks and Spencer Group p.l.c.

The principal activities of the Group are retailing and financial services. Retailing includes clothing, food,
beauty products and products for the hame, which are sold under the brand name “Marks & Spencer”.
Financial services includes the operations of the Group’s retail financial services companies, which
provide account cards, personal loans, unit trust management, life assurance, personal insurance and
pensions.

Board of Directors

The functions of the directors of Marks and Spencer p.l.c., each of whose business address is
47-67 Baker Street, London W1U BEP, and their principal activities outside the Group, where these are
. significant, are as follows:—

Name Position / Other Principal Activities

L. E. Vandevelde .. .. . .. Director {Chairman of Marks and Spencer Group p.l.c.)
Chairman of ECR Europe

R. A. Holmes .. .. . .. .. Director {Chief Executive of Marks and Spencer
Group p.l.c.}

D. R. Norgrove .. . . .. .. Director {Executive Director of Marks and Spencer
Group p.l.c.)

Trustee of The Hanover Foundation

Director and Trustee of The Media Trust

Director of The Community Channel

Trustee and Director of MENCAP

Governor of National Institute of Economic and Sacial
Research Inc.

A. C. Reed e . . .. Director (Executive Director of Marks and Spencer
Group p.l.c.)
Non-Executive Director of HSBC Bank plc

L. Powers-Freeling .. . .. .. Director {Executive Director of Marks and Spencer
Group p.l.c.)
Non-Executive Director of The Court of the Bank of England

J. M. King.. . . . . .. Director {Executive Director of Marks and Spencer
Group p.L.c.}

G. J. Oakley .. . . .. .. Director and Company Secreiary (Company Secretary of
Marks and Spencer Group pl.c.)
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Capitalisation and Indebtedness

The following table shows the audited equity shareholders’ funds and consolidated borrowings of Marks

and Spencer p.l.c. as at 30th March, 2002:

Capital and Reserves

Authorised, allotted, called up and fully pald 2,848,387 227 ordlnary shares of
25 pence each .

Share Premium account ..

Capital Redemption reserve

Revaluation reserve

Profit and Loss Account ..

Equity shareholders’ funds

Borrowings
Unsecured — due within one year
Bank loans, overdrafts and commercial paper and bills of exchange
medium term notes
Secured — due within one year
securitised loan notes ..
Unsecured — due after one year
medium term notes "
Secured — due after one year
securitised loan notes ..

Total Borrowings

Notes:—

(1) Share Capital:
Authorised share capita
3,200,000,000 ordinary shares of 25 pence each
Issued share capital (fully paid)
2,848,387,227 ordinary shares of 25 pence each

{2

—

financial year end for the Group.

(3

—

At 30th March, 2002, Marks and Spencer p.l.c. had the following commitments and contingent liabilities:
(i) Approximately £1,260.9 milion of guarantees in respect of the borrowings of subsidiaries.
(i} Approximately £16.7 million of commitments in respect of properties in the course of development,

As at 30th
March, 2002
(in £ millions}

7124
380.9
8.0
387.3
3.316.5

4,804.8

265.4
382.7

2.3
1,679.9

317.1

2,647.4

{in £ millions)
800.0

7124

Balances in foreign currencies have been translated into sterling at the exchange rates ruling at 30th March, 2002, being the

At 30th March, 2002, consolidated borrowings guaranteed by Marks and Spencer p..c. amounted to approximately
£1,017.6 million and consolidated borrowings not guaranteed by Marks and Spencer p.l.c. amounted to approximately

£1,629.8 mitlion.

—_
~
-

At 18th September, 2002 {being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this Offering Circular), Marks and

Spencer p.l.c. had provided guarantees totaling £1,113.2 million in aggregate and has also guaranteed (i) the obligations of
Marks and Spencer Finance Inc. under a share sale agreemant for Brooks Brothers Inc., dated 23rd November, 2001 and
(ii) Marks and Spencer (Ireland) Limited in order that such company may avail itself of the exemption provided for in .17 of
the Irish Companies (Amendment) Act 1986 in respect of the decuments required to be annexed to its annual return.

[4)]

There has been no material change in the capitalisation, consclidated indebtedness and contingent liabilities of Marks and

Spencer p.l.c. since 30th March, 2002. Save as disclosed above in Note 4, Marks and Spencer p.l.c. has not provided any

guarantees since 30th March, 2002
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Marks and Spencer p.l.c.

Holding Company: Marks and Spencer Group p.l.c.

Principal subsidiary undertakings of Marks and Spencer p.lc.

Marks and Spencer International
Holdings Limited

Marks and Spencer
{Nederland ) BV

Marks & Spencer Finance Inc

Marks and Spencer
Ventures _Limited

Marks and Spencer
{Irefand) Limited

Kings Super Markets Inc

Marks and Spencer (Asia Pacific)
Retailing Limited

Marks and Spencer Card
Services Limited

Marks and Spencer Retall Financial
Services Holdings Limited

Marks and Spencer Financial
Services p.l.c.

Marks and Spencer Unit Trust
Management Limited

Marks and Spencer Savings and
Investments Limited

Marks and Spencer Life
Assurance Limited

M.S. insurance Limited
St. Michael Finance p.l.c.
Marks and Spencer Finance p.l.c.

Marks and Spencer Property
Holdings Limited

Amethyst Leasing {Properties)
Finance Limited

Amethyst Finance p.l.c.

The Zip Project Limited

Principal Activity

Country of
incorporation and
Operation

Proportion of voting rights
and shares held by

Holding Company
Holding Company

Holding Company
Holding Company

Retailing

Retailing
Retailing

Credit Card
Handling

Holding Company
Financial Services
Financial Services
Financial Services

Financial Services

Financial Services
Finance
Finance

Property Investment
Finance

Finance

Procurement

Great Britain

The Netherlands

United States

Gireat Britain

Republic of Ireland

United States

Hong Kong

Great Britain

Great Britain

Great Britain

Great Britain

Great Britain

Great Britain

Guernsey
Great Britain
Great Britain

Great Britain

Great Britain

Great Britain

Great Britain

Marks and
Spencer p.l.c.

100%

100%
100%

100%

100%

100%
100%
100%

75%

A subsidiary

100%

100%

100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

' Amethyst Finance p.lc. is a whally owned subsidiary of a non-Group company but has been consolidated in the accounts as
a quasi-subsidiary in accordance with FRS 5. The quasi-subsidiary has nat assets of £nil, the material balances being securitised
loan notas of £331.0m offset by an inter-company Group receivable.
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Marks and Spencer Finance p.l.c.

Incorporation and Business

Marks and Spencer Finance p.l.c. is a whoily owned subsidiary of Marks and Spencer p.l.c., which is the
wholly owned subsidiary of Marks and Spencer Group p.l.c. It was incorporated in England with limited
liability on 26th March, 1985, and registered with the Registrar of Companies under registered number
1899685. It was incorporated to facilitate the raising of finance for the Group. Marks and Spencer Finance
p.l.c. has no subsidiaries.

Board of Directors

The functions of the directors of Marks and Spencer Finance p.l.c., each of whose business address is
47-67, Baker Street, London W1U 8EP, and their principal activities outside the Group, where these are
significant, are as follows:—

Name Position/ Other Principal Activities

A. C. Reed Director {Executive Director of Marks and Spencer Group p.l.c.)
Non-Executive Director of HSBC Bank plc

J. I. Denton Director {Head of Corporate Finance, Marks and Spencer p.i.c.)
Non-Executive Director, The Court Service

L. Powers-Freeling Director {Executive Director of Marks and Spencer Group p.lc.)

Non-Executive Director of The Court of the Bank of England

Capitalisation and Indebtedness

The foilowing table shows the audited equity shareholders' funds and borrowmgs of Marks and Spencer
Finance pl.c. as at 30th March, 2002:—

As at 30th
March, 2002
(in £)
Capital and Reserves
Authorised share capital 100,000 ordinary shares of £1.00 each .. .. .. .. 100,000
Issued share capital
2 ordinary shares of £1.00 each paid up as fo 100 per cent .. . .. .. .. 2
49,998 ordinary shares of £1.00 each paid up as to 25 per cent .. .. .. . 12,500
Total called up share capital . . . . . - . .. . . 12,502
Profit and Loss Account .. . .. . . . . .. . .. . 444 000
Equity shareholders’ funds.. .. . " . " . . .. .. . 456,502
Borrowings
Unsecured — due after one year
medium term notes . . .. .. .. .. .. . .. .. 253,840,000
Total Borrowings .. .. .. . . .. . .. . . . . 253,840,000
Notes:—

{1} Amounts due from Group undertakings amcunted to £255,835,000 at 30th March, 2002.

{2} Marks and Spencer Finance p.l.c. did not have any matetial contingent liabilities at 3Cth March, 2002.

(3) Borrowings guaranteed by Marks and Spencer p.l.c. amounted to £253,840,000 at 30th March, 2002,

(4) No guarantees have been provided by Marks and Spencer Finance p.l.c.

(5) There has been ne material change in the capitalisation, indebtedness and contingent liabilities of Marks and Spencer Finance

p.l.c. singe 30th March, 2002.
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St. Michael Finance p.l.c.

Incorporation and Business

St. Michael Finance p.l.c. is a wholly owned subsidiary of Marks and Spencer p.l.c., which is the wholly
owned subsidiary of Marks and Spencer @roup p.l.c. It was incorporated in England with limited liability
on 21st November, 1977, and registered with the Registrar of Companies under registered number
1339700. It carries on the business of a finance company. On 28th June, 1996, it was re-registered as a
public limited company. St. Michael Finasce p.l.c. has no subsidiaries.

Beoard ot Directors

The functions of the directors of St. Michae! Finance p.l.c., each of whose business address is 47-67,
Baker Street, London W1l 8EP, and their principal acfivities outside the Group, where these are
significant, are as follows:—

Name Position/ Other Principal Activities

A. C. Reed Director {Executive Director of Marks and Spencer Group p.l.c.}
Non-Executive Director of HSBC Bank plc

J. I. Denton Director (Head of Corporate Finance, Marks and Spencer p.l.c.}
Non-Executive Director, The Court Service

L. Powers-Freeling Director (Executive Director of Marks and Spencer Group p.l.c.)

Non-Executive Director of The Court of the Bank of England

Capitalisation and Indebtedness

The following table shows the audited ecuity shareholders’ funds and borrowings of St. Michael Finance
p.l.c. as at 30th March, 2002:

As at 30th
March, 2002
(in £ thousand)
Capital and Reserves

Authorised, allotted, called up and fully pald 50,000 ordlnary shares of £1.00 each .. 50
Profit and Loss Account .. .. . .. . . . 356,611
Equity shareholders’ funds .. .. .. .. .. . . . .. . 36,661
Borrowings

Unsecured — due within one year
Bank loans, overdrafts, commercial paper, medium term notes and bills of

exchange . .. . . . .. .. . . 585,448
Amounts owed to Group undertakmgs .. .. .. .. .. .. . . 706,172
Unsecured — due after one year
Medium term notes .. .. .. . . .. .. .. .. 283,474
Amounts owed to Group undertaklngs .. .. . .. . .. . .. 253,840
Total Borrowings .. .. .. o . .. .. .. .. . .. .. 1,828,934
Notes:— .

{1) Amounts due from Group undertakings amounted to £1,833,711,000 at 30th March, 2002.

(2) Borrowings guaranteed by Marks and Spencer p.l.¢. amounted to £763,733,000 at 30th March, 2002.
(3) St. Michael Finance p.l.c. did not have any material contingent liabilities at 30th March, 2002.

(4) No guarantees have been provided by St. Michael Finance p.l.c.

{5) There has been no material change in the caoitalisation, indebtedness and contingent liabifities of 5t, Michae!l Finance p.l.c.
since 30th March, 2002,
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Marks and Spencer Financial Services p.l.c.

Incorporation and Business

Marks and Spencer Financial Services p.l.c. is a wholly owned subsidiary of Marks and Spencer p..c.,
which is the wholly owned subsidiary of Marks and Spencer Group p.l.c., which is the holding company of
the Group. It was incorporated in England with limited liability on 24th November, 1983, and registered
with the Registrar of Companies under registered number 01772585, It is an institution authorised under
the Banking Act 1987 and also provides retail credit and associated services. On 1st August, 2002, it
was re-registered as a public limited company. Marks and Spencer Financial Services p.l.c. has no
subsidiaries. For further information on the principal activities of the Group, please refer to page 34 of this
Offering Circular.

Board of Directors

The functions of the directors of Marks and Spencer Financial Services p.l.c., each of whose business
address is Kings Meadow, Chester, Cheshire, CH39 9FB and their principal activities outside the Group,
where these are significant, are as follows;—

Name Position / Other Principal Activities

L. Powers-Freeling Chief Executive (Executive Director of Marks and Spencer Group p.l.c.)
Non-Executive Director of The Court of the Bank of Engiand

E. Nott Chief Operating Cificer

J. Walton Finance Director

A. Milne Sales and Marketing Director
Director of Montrose Milne Limited

L. E. Vandevelde Non-Executive Director (Chairman) (Chairman of Marks and Spencer
Group p.l.c.)
Chairman of ECR Europe

R. Ranson Non-Executive Director

K. Culley Non-Executive Director

Non-Executive Director of BRIT Insurance Limited
Non-Executive Director of Financial Services Compensation Scheme
Limited
Non-Executive Director of Fleming Managed Growth ple
Non-Executive Director of Investors’ Compensation Scheme Limited
Nen-Executive Director of Fleming Managed Income PLC
Non-Executive Director of Football Licensing Authority

B. Wells Non-Executive Director
Joint Chairman of Acott Tilley Wells Holdings Limited
Chairman of PremierLine Direct Limited
Chairman of BJW International Limited

K. Knutson Non-Executive Director .-
Chief Executive Officer and Acting Chairman of Clear Money Limited

39




Capitalisation and Indebtedness

The following table shows the audited equity shareholders' funds and borrowings of Marks and Spencer
Financial Services p.l.c. as at 31st March, 2002:—

As at 31st

March, 2002

{(in £ thousand)

Capital and Reserves
Authorised, allotted, called up and fully paid 35,000,000 ordinary shares of £1.00

each .. . 35,000
Profit and Loss Account ., .. .. .. . .. . . .. .. . 328,948
Equity shareholders’ funds . . . . . . .. .. .. .. 363,948
Borrowings
Unsecured — due within one year

Bank overdrafts .. . .. .. . . . . . .. . .. 2,984

Amounits owed to Group undertakings .. . .. .. . . . . 1,674,407
Unsecured — due after one year

Subordinated loan stock owed to Group undertakings .. .. . . .. 35,000
Total Borrowings .. .. . . .. . .. .. . . o . 1,712,321
Notes:——

{1) Amounts due from Group undertakings amounted to £5,795,000 at 31st March, 2002,
{2) Marks and Spencer Financial Services p.l.c. did not have any material contingent liabilities at 31st March, 2002.

{3) Marks and Spencer Financial Services p.lc. has guaranteed to certain customers of Marks and Spencer Unit Trust
Management Limited that they will receive the amount originally invested in a product offered by that company on
5th December, 2002. Assuming that the aggregate value of the FTSE 100 share index is zero on 5th December, 2002, then as
at 16th August, 2002 (being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this Offering Cirgular for the purposss of this
calculation). the total amount payable by Marks and Spencer Financial Services p.l.c. under the guarantee would be
£30,080,496.73. - Marks and Spencer Financial Services p.l.c. has purchased FTSE 100 put options that mature on
5th December, 2002 and which provided cover of £31,538,322.84 as at 16th August, 2002. Further details regarding this
guarantee and this hedgirg transaction may be found under paragraph 15 on pages 49 and 51.

(4} There has been no material change in the capitalisation, indebtedness and contingent liabilities of Marks and Spencer Financial
Services p.l.c. since 31st March, 2002. Save as disclosed above in Note 3, Marks and Spencer Financial Services p.l.c. has not
provided any guarantees since 31st March, 2002.

40




MARKS AND SPENCER FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED!"
PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

For the year ended

31 March

2002 2001

Notes £000 £000

Restated

Interest receivable .. .. . . . . . . . 4 286200 291514
Interest payable .. . . .. . . .. .. .. .. 8 (108,837} (120,094}

Net Interest Income ., - . " . .. - . .. 177,453 171,420

Fees and commissions receivable .. . o . . » .. 35,912 39,190

Other operating income:

Insurance profit share .. .. .. .. . .. . .. .. 9,834 9,661

Operating Income .. . . . .. . .. " . 223,199 220,271
Administrative expenses . .. .. .. . .. .. . (80,064) (81,098)
Depreciation .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. . .. 7&13 {3,609) {3,868)
Charge for bad and doubtful debts . . . . y - 12 (72,762) (60,245)

166,442 145,911

Profit On Ordinary Activities Before Taxation .. . .. .. 7 66,757 74,360
Taxation on profit on ordinary activities .. .. . . .. . 9 (20,405) (21,615)
Profit On Ordinary Activities After Taxation . . . . 46,352 52,745
Dividends .. . .. . . . . . . .. .. 10 —  (43,500)
Retained Profit For The Financial Year . .. . . .. 22 46,352 9,245

All operations are continuing.
The company has no recognised gains or losses other than the profit for the year.

There is no difference between the profit on ordinary activities before taxation and the retained profit for
the year stated above, and their historical cost equivalents.
Notes:—

(1) Marks and Spencer Financial Services Limited was re-registered as a public limited company on 1st August, 2002. Any
references herein to "'Marks and Spencer Financial Services Limited" should be taken to refer to "Marks and Spencer Finangial
Services p.l.c.”
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MARKS AND SPENCER FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED

BALANCE SHEET

Assets
Cash and balances at Central Banks

Loans and advances to customers
Tangible fixed assets ..

Other assets

Deferred Tax

Prepayments and accrued income..

Total assets

Liabilities

Customer accounts

QOther liabilities

Accruals and deferred income

Provisions for liabilities and charges — Save As You Earn

Subordinated liabilities ..

Called up share capital

Profit and loss account
Equity shareholders’ funds

Total liabilities and Shareholders’ funds ..

Commitments :
Contract amount of other commitrents:

Undrawn formal standby facilities, credit lines and other commitments

to lend:
— 1 year or less..

Notes

11
13
14
18

17
18

19
20

21

22
23

At 31 March

2002 2001
£000 £000
Restated

2,768 12,727
2,182,985 2,253,334
12,504 14,808
18,834 8,585
1,665 1,387

617 4 570
2,219,373 2,299,421
37,462 12,768
1,766,648 1,900,128
12,681 15,496
3,634 3,433
35,000 50,000
1,855,425 1,981,825
35,000 35,000
328,948 282,596
363,948 317,596
2,219,373 2,299,421
2002 2001
£000 £000

472 045 450,471

The financial statements on pages 5 to 26" were approved by the Board of Directors on 13th May 2002

and signed on its behalf by:

L Powers-Freeling
Chief Executive

Notes:—

(1) The pages mentioned above refer to pages from the “Independent Auditors' Report to the Members of Marks and Spencer
Financial Services Limited" and the corresponding referenca in this Offering Circular is to pages 41 to 56.
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MARKS AND SPENCER FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Accounting Policies

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the special provisions of Part Vil of the
Companies Act 1985 relating to banking companies, and Schedule 9 to, the Companies Act 1985, the
Statements of Recommended Practice issued by the British Bankers' Association (“BBA SORP") and
applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom. The principal accounting policies, which have
been applied consistently, are described below.

There have been no changes to the company’s accounting policies other than as necessitated by the
adoption of FRS 17 — Retirement Benefits and FRS 19 — Deferred Tax.

Basis of Accounting
The financial statements are drawn up on the histerical cost basis of accounting.
interest Receivable

Interest is accrued on a dally basis for Chargecard and Personal Reserve balances. Where collection of a
Chargecard or Personal Reserve advance is considered doubtful interest is suspended. Loan interest is
earned over the period of the loan. Where collection of a loan advance is considered doubtful a provision
is made against the lean and the earned interest.

Fees and Commission Receivable
Fee income is recognised when the related transaction is charged to the customer's account.

Creditor insurance commission income is credited to the profit and loss account when the related
premiums are charged to the customer’s account.

Home and contents insurance commission income is credited to the profit and loss account when the
related premiums are due from the customer.

Insurance Profit Share

Insurance profit share in respect of creditor insurance is based on premiums earned and claims incurred
over the period for which cover is provided. Profit release occurs annually. In the event that in any scheme
year there is a deficit, any such deficit is brought forward into subsequent scheme years and no payment
of profit is made until all deficits have been cleared.

Loans and Advances to Customers

Loans and advances are classified as impaired when an instalment is in excess of 30 days overdue.
Specific provisions are made against all advances identified as impaired at the balance sheet date {o the
extent that, in the opinion of the directors, recovery is doubtful. Specific provisions against such
exposures are calculated using a bad debt provision model, which uses the last two years credit history
to produce estimates of the likely level of asset impairment. General provisions relate to latent bad and
doubtful debts which, are present in any lending portfolio but have not been specifically identified.
General provisions are calculated using the same bad debt provision model and an evaluation of current
economic and political factors.

Loans and advances are written off when there is no realistic prospect of recovery, based on a
predetermined set of criteria. Account balances written off include those where no payment has been
received for a period of 12 months since the account was identified as doubtful, and in other situations
such as bankruptcy, insolvency or fraud.
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MARKS AND SPENCER FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Tangible Fixed Assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less depreciation. Depreciation is provided so as to write off the
cost of fixed assets by equal annhual instalments over the following periods:

Leasehold Improvements Lease Term
Fixtures, fittings and catering equipment 10 years
Computer equipment and vehicles 5 years
Fixtures and fittings of in-store Financial Service Centres 3 years

Deferred Taxation

The adoption of FRS 19 “Accounting for deferred tax’ has resulted in changes in the method of
accounting for deferred tax. FRS 19 requires, subject to certain exemptions, that deferred tax liabilities be
provided for in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed by the balance sheet
date and that deferred tax assets be recognised to the extent that they are regarded as more likely than
not recoverable. The Company's previous accounting policy was to account for deferred tax to the extent
that it was probable that a liability or asset would crystallise.

Prior year figures have been restated to reflect the change in accounting policy. The resulis of this
restatement are disclosed in note 27.

Pension Costs

The company is a member of a defined benefit scheme operated by the Marks and Spencer Group. In
accordance with FRS 17, the pension contributions have not been accounted for on a defined benefit
basis because it is not possible to separately identify the company's share of the underlying assets and
liabilities on a cansistent and reasonable basis. Accordingly, the scheme has been treated as a defined
contribution scheme. The pension cost charge represents the contributions paid.

Operating Leases

Costs of operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight line basis over the life of
the lease.

Foreign Currencies

Transactions denominated in foreign cu-rencies are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Assets and liabilities held at the year-end are translated at year-end exchange rates. The
resulting exchange gain or loss is dealt with in the profit and loss account.

Derivatives

The cost of options purchased to hedge equivalent liabilities for guarantees issued is written off over the
period to maturity. Provision is made where the fair value of the options falls below amortised cost.

2. Cash Flow Statement

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of a company which publishes consclidated financial
statements that include a consolidatec cash flow statement. Consequently the company has taken
advantage of the exemption for preparing a cash flow statement under the terms of FRS 1 (Revised
1996).

3. Segmental Reporting

The Company does not operate in more than one geographical segment, or in more than one class of
business.
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MARKS AND SPENCER FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

4. Interest Receivable

2002 2001
£000 £000
Cards .. . .. .. . . .. . .. .. .. . 94,284 93,903
Loans .. .. .. . .. . .. . .. .. .. .. .. 149,660 149,519
Personal Reserve .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. 42,329 48,069
Qther . . .. . . " .. . .. .. .. .. . 17 23
286,290 291,514
{a} The value of loans on which interest is suspended is as follows:
2002 2001
£000 £000
Loans and advances to customers . .. .. .- .. . . .. 256,418 25,345
Provisions .. . .. .. .. .. .. .. .. " . . .. (25418} (25,345)

(b) Cards and Personal Reserve

Due to the revolving nature of these balances, it is not possible to calculate the interest suspended on

these balances.

b. Staff Costs

2002 2001
£000 £000
Staff costs (including directors):
Wages and salaries . . .. .. . .. .. . .. .. .. 26520 24430
Social security costs . .. .. - .. .. . . .. . 2,185 1,814
Other pension costs (note 25(b)) .. .. - .. .. " .. .. .. 5608 4,215
34,313 30,459
Average monthty number of employees (including executive directors):
2002 2001
Selling and Distribution .. .. .. . . .. - .. . . .. 357 298
Administration .. .. .. . . .. . . . .. .. .. 1,081 1,072
1,438 1,370

if the number of part-time hours worked were converted on the basis of a full working week, the

equivalent average number of full-time employees would have been 1,368 (2001 1,363).
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MARKS AND SPENCER FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

6. Directors’ Emoluments

2002 2001

£ £

Highest paid director .. . .. . . . .. . .. 133,011 275,975
Aggregate emoluments of other dlrectors .. . . . . .. .. 565,122 592,062
Compensation for loss of office .. . . . . .. - . .. 140,627 29,612

838,660 897,649

Retirement benefits are accruing to 4 directors (2001: 5) under a defined benefit scheme. 4 directors
(2001: 5) are entitled to receive shares under a long-term incentive scheme.

Mr Colvill, Mrs Powers-Freeling and Mr McWalter served as directors of Marks and Spencer Group plc,
and their total remuneration has been disclosed in those financial statements. No remuneration was paid
to Mr Calvill or Mr McWalter for their services to this Company and therefore no apportionment of their
emoluments has been made. In the case of Mrs Powers-Freeling 80% of her remuneration is borne by
subsidiary companies within the Marks and Spencer Financial Services group, and the recharge relating
to this Company has been included in directors’ emoluments above. The remuneration of the other
directors is allocated between the companies in the Marks and Spencer Financial Services group.

The amount of pension benefit accrued to the highest paid director at the end of the year is £98,700
(2001: £75,600).

7. Profit on Ordinary Activities Before Taxation

2002 2001
£000 £000
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation is stated after charging:
Audit fees .. . " . .. . .. . . 84 109
Remuneration to audrtors for non audft eerwc:es .. .. - .. .. . . 51 63
Depreciation . . .. .. . . .. . .. . . .. 3,602 3,868
Operating lease rentals
— plant and machinery . .. . . . " .. . . . . 202 392
— buildings . . .. - - . - . . . . .. 2473 2473
Amortisation of options .. . .. " . . .. . .. . .. 884 951
8., Interest Payable
2002 2001
£000 £000
Interest on subordinated liabilities (see note 20) .. .. . . . . 2,364 3,093
Inter-company interest . . .. . . .. e . .. 101,836 112,975
Other interest .. . " . . e . . . .. . 4,637 4,026

108,837 120,094
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MARKS AND SPENCER FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

9. Taxation on Profit on Ordinary Activities

Current Taxation
UK corporation tax at 30% (2001: 30%)

Under/ (over) provision in respect of prior years ..

Deferred Taxation (see notes 16 and 27)
Origination and reversal of timing differences

Adjustments to estimated recoverable amount of deferred tax arlsmg in

previous periods ..

The tax assessed for the period is higher than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (30%). The

differences are explained below:

Profit on ordinary activities before tax

Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate in the

UK 30% {2001: 30%)
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes

(Allowable ) /non allowable movement in provisions

Capital allowances for period in excess of depreciation
Expenses capitalised as assets subject to capital allowances

Under/ {over} provision in respect of prior years
Current tax charge for the year

Factors that may effect future tax charges:

Based on current capital investment plans, the Company expects to be able to recover deferred taxation
balances arising from timing differences in respect of capital expenditure,

Deferred tax assets/liabilities have not been discounted.

10. Dividends

Ordinary shares
Interim paid of nil (2001: 85.6p per share} ..
Proposed final of nil (2001: 38.6p per share)

Total ordinary dividend of nil (2001: 124.2p per share)
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2002 2001
£000 £000
Restated
18,952 24,005
1,721 . {736)
20,673 23,269
1,087 (1,685)
(1.355) 31
{268) {1,654)
20,405 21,615

2002 2001
£000 £000
66.757 74,360
20,027 22,308
12 7
{1,430) 1,685
{632) {218)
G975 223
1,721 {736)
20,673 23,269

2001
£000

30,000
13,500
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MARKS AND SPENCER FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)

11. Loans and Advances to Customers

2002 2001
£000 £000
Repayable:

—over 5 years .. . " . . . .. .. .y . 218,430 181,837
— b5 years or less but over 1 year .. . .. .. . " . .. 1,384,667 1,448,492
— 1 year or less but over 3 months .. .. .. .. .. . .. 509,803 528,576
— 3 months or less .. .. .. .. . . .. . .. . 190,420 206,373
. 2,303,420 2,365,078
General and specific bad and doubtful debt provisions .. .. . .. (120,435) (105744)
2,182,985 2,259,334

The above analysis is based on the minimum repayment required on card balances of 3% per month and

on personal reserve of 3% per month.

The Company has no discernible credit risk in respect of classes of customer and does not lend to

geographical locations outside the United Kingdom.

12. Provisions for Bad and Doubtful Debts

2002 2001

Specific  General Total  Specific  General Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April .. . .. . .. 99,737 6,007 105,744 74,375 5,913 80,288

Charge against profits .. .. .. 76,888 (703) 76,185 63,348 94 63,442

Amounts written off .. .. .. {61,494) — (61,494) (37,086) — {37,986)

At 31 March . .. .. .. 115,131 5304 120,435 99,737 6,007 105,744
Profit and loss account

Charge against profits .. . . 76,185 63,442

Recoveries.. .. .. . {3,416} (2.497)

72,769 60,945
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MARKS AND SPENCER FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — {Continued)

13. Tangible Fixed Assets

Fixtures
Leaseheld fittings &
improvements  equipment Total

£000 £000 £000
Cost
At 1 April 2001 . .. .. .. .. . .. . 5,881 35,344 41,225
Additions.. .. . .. . . . . . . — 1,314 1,314
Disposals NI .. . .. .. . - . — (24) (24)
At 31 March 2002 .. . . .. .. . .. . 5,881 36,834 42,515
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2001 .. .. " . . .. . .. 858 25559 26417
Charge for the year .. .. " . - . o .. 318 3,291 3,609
Disposals . . . .. . . . .. .. — {15} (15)
At 31 March 2002 .. .. . . . . . . 1,176 28,835 30,011
Net book value
At 31 March 2002 .. .. v v . .. . . 4,705 7,799 12,504
At 31 March 2001 .. .. . . . . .. . 5,023 8,785 14,808
14. Other Assets

2002 2001
£000  £000

Amounts falling due within one year:
Amounts owed by fellow subsidiary undertakings .. .. . . . .. 5,795 3,653
Derivatives .. . .. .. .. .. .. .. " . .. .. " 429 1,295
Ofther assets .. .. . .. . .. . . .. . . . .. 11,500 1,250
VAT receivable .. iy . .. . . .. . . . . .. 1,110

Amounts owed by fellow subsidiary undertakings are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed date of
repayment.

15. Role of Financial Instruments

The Company raises its funds from St Michae!l Finance Limited, a fellow subsidiary company, which
manages the interest liabilities and exposures on behalf of the Marks and Spencer Group plc group as a
whole. The Company does not use any derivative financial instruments to manage its credit exposures,
The Company utilises FTSE 100 put options to hedge (to the extent that a risk is considered to exist} the
potential liabifity of a fellow subsidiary company to its investors, who have received a guarantee against
adverse Stock Exchange index fluctuations.

The Company does not trade in financial instruments.

The Company lends to individuals in the unsecured lending market, at variable rates and terms through
its Chargecard and Personal Reserve products, and at fixed rates and terms through Personal Loans.

The Company’s financial instruments include the fixed and variable rate funding from St Michael Finance
Limited, the options described above, customer balances and subordinated liabilities, together with loans
and deposits from customers and staff.

The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity
risk, and foreign currency risk.

49




MARKS AND SPENCER FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — {Continued)

Credit Risk

in making advances to Customers, the Company faces a credit risk. Al initial applications are subjected
to credit scoring techniques and accounts in arrears are actively managed to minimise the Company’s
bad debt exposure. The Company further maintains a bad debt provision to recognise potential !osses in
the future from existing advances.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company seeks to match its fixed-rate funding to the fixed-rate loans it provides to customers, and
floating-rate funding to the revolving credit products. The monitoring of interest rates is carried out by the
Company, and funding is secured at agreed rates from St. Michae! Finance Limited.

Liquidity Rate Risk

The Company utilises St. Michael Finance Limited to source its steriing denominated funds. The
Company seeks to match availability of funding to the Company’s requirements, and any shortfalls are
sourced at variable rates by St. Michael Finance Limited at that time. The Company has an agreed
overdraft denominated in euros.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Company has a minimal exposure to currency fluctuations in the euro, due to its trading in Ireland.
The asset and liability positions naturally hedge one ancther, giving a net exposure of £1.9 million. All
other material trading is carried out in starling.

Interest Rate Sensitivity Gap

The table below summarises the re-pricing mismatches of the Company’s financial instruments. items are
allocated to time bands by reference to the earlier of the next contractual interest rate re-pricing date and
the maturity date. The balance sheet consists entirely of non-trading activities, The table includes all
short-term debtors and creditors.

At 31 March 2002
More than More than More than

3 months 6 months 1 year
but not but not but not
Not more more mare more
than than than than More than Non-interest
3 months & months 1 year 5 years 5 years bearing Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Assets:
Cash and balances at barks .. 3 — — —_ — — 3
L oans & advances to customers 180 17 313 1,312 173 34 2,183
Other assets . . v — —_— — — — 33 33
Total assets .. o . " 183 171 313 1,312 173 67 2,219
Liabilities:
Customer accounts . . 33 — — -— —_ 4 37
Other liabilities .. . v 598 176 346 606 ] 51 1,783
Subordinated liabilities .. . — — — a5 — — 35
Shareholders' funds . . — — — — — 364 364
Total liahilities . . v 631 176 346 641 6 419 2,219
Interest rate sensitivity gap .. {448) (5) (33) 671 167 {352) —
Cumulative gap .. . .. {448) (453) (486) 185 352 — —
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Al 31 March 2001
More than More than More than

3 months 6 months 1 year
but not but not but not
Not more more more more
than than than than More than Non-interest
3 months 6 months 1 year 5 years 5 years bearing Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Assets:
Cash and balances at banks .. 13 — — — — — 13
Loans & advances to customers 194 i78 318 1,360 i71 38 2,259
Other assets .. .. . — — — — — 26 26
Total assets .. . . . 207 178 318 1,360 171 64 2,208
Liabilities:
Customer accounts . . 10 — —_ — — 3 13
Other liabilities .. " . 673 188 314 694 3 47 1,919
Subordinated liabilities .. .. 15 — — 35 — — 50
Shareholders' funds . . — s — — — 316 316
Total liabilities . . . 698 188 314 729 3 366 2,298
Interest rate sensitivity gap .. (491) (10) 4 631 168 {302) —
Cumulative gap .. " . (491) (501) (497) 134 302 — —
Hedges

The Company has purchased FTSE 100 put options to hedge the potential liability of a feliow subsidiary
company to its investors, who have received a guarantee against adverse index fluctuations. The options
held are non-trading options that have a total notional principal of £49 million (2001 £52 million). The
book value is the cost of the option amortised over the period to maturity. During the year two out of the
five guarantees ran to maturity: the remaining three will do so in the forthcoming financial year.

Losses on hedges carried forward in the balance sheet as at 31 March, which represent the unamortised
option premia, are as follows:

2002 2001
£000 £000
Losses carried forward in the balance sheet at 1 April .. .. . .. . .. 1,295 2,246
Additions during the year .. .. .. . . .. .. .. . 67 —
Cf which recognised in the year to 31 March . . . .. .. . .. (884) {951)
Disposals during the year,, . . . (49) —
{Losses}/gains arising in the year to 31 March WhICh were not recognlsed ‘
in the year .. . . . — —
Losses carried forward in the balance sheet at 31 March .. . 429 1,295
Of which expected to be recognised in the year to 31 March 2003/2002 . .. 429 840

|
|

During the year options were sold generating a profit of £169,974.
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The table below summarises the unrecognised gains and losses on hedges at 31 March and the

movements therein during the year:

Unrecognised gains on hedges at 1 April
Of which recognised in the year to 31 March

Gains arising in previous years that were not recognised in the year to 31 March
{Losses) /gains arising in the year to 31 March that were not recognised in

that year . .
Unrecognised gains on hedges at 31 March

Of which expected to be recognised in the year to 31 March 2003/2002

2002
£000

1,546

|

1,546

2001
£000

888

88

o s)

(o))
[4)]
o]

‘T
A
o

Y

The fair values as at the balance sheet date have been provided by Barclays Global Investors, who are
fund managers for the fund. Al fair values of the various options are positive. A realised gain will only be

recorded if the FTSE 100 put options ars exercised.

Fair Values

FTSE 100 put options
Baak value

Fair value

Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in an arms length transaction
between informed and willing parties, other than a forced liguidation sale, and excludes accrued interest.

16. Deferred Tax

Deferred Tax
At 1 April 2001 (as restated — see note 27} ..
Transfer from profit and loss account (see note 9) ..

At 31 March 2002

Accelerated capital allowances
Disallowed provisions ..

17. Customer Accounts

Credit balances on unsecured loans and advances ..

[SA balances

All the above are repayable on demand.
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2002 2001
£000 £0Q0
Restated

1,397 {288)
268 1,685
1,665 1,397

1,401 (288)
264 1,685
1,665 1,397
2002 2001
£000 £000
5,474 4,981
31,988 7,787
37,462 12,768
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18. Other Liabilities

2002 2001

£000 £000
Amounts falling due within one year:
Bank loans and overdrafts .. . . - . . " . .. 2,984 2,750
Amounts owed to fellow subsidiary undertakings .. . . . .. 1,674,407 1,798,877
SAYE liability .. .. .. . . . L 72,098 66,628
Corporation tax .. . . . . .. .. .. .. . . 14,366 15,419
Insurance Premium Tax .. . . - . . . . . 664 805
Other liabilities .. - . . " - .. . o . .. 2,129 2,149
Proposed dividend .. .. .. . .. .. . . . .. — 13,500

1,766,648 1,800,128

Amounts due to fellow subsidiary undertakings are unsecured.

19. Provisions — Save As You Earn

The amount of £3,633,815 (2001: £3,432,790} provides for the potential liability inherent in the
Company's SAYE scheme. The provision is for the full amount of the bonus payable under the various
schemes less an amount to recognise the effect of staff leaving either the scheme or the Company during
the course of the scheme.

£000
At 1 April 2001 .. . .. . . . .. . .. .. . . .. 3,433
Change in the provision .. .. . .. . .. . .. .. . .. . .. 488
Payments made .. .. .. .. . - . .. . .. . .. .. .. (287}
At 31 March 2002 .. . . .. .. . .. .. .. v .. .y .. .. 3,634

20. Subordinated Liabilities

The subordinated liabilities consist wholly of sterling subordinated loan stock due to an intermediate
holding company. The Stockholder shall, subject to the subordination provisions, be entitled to demand
early repayment of the loan stock in any voluntary or compulsory winding up of the Company. In the event
of the winding up of the Company, the claims of the Stockholder in respect of the stock shall be
subordinated to the claims of the Company’s ordinary creditors.

The subordinated loan stock is repayable as follows:

2002 2001
£000 £000
December 2001 .. . . . .. . . . . . . . —_ 15,000
July 2005 . . . .. i’ . " . . . .. - .. 30,000 30,000
December 2005 .. . - . .. . . . . .. .. .. 5,000 5,000

35,000 50,000

Interest on subordinated loans is payable at rates up to LIBOR + 1/16%.
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21. Called Up Share Capital

2002 2001
£000 £000
Authorised, allotted, called up and fully 2aid:
35,000,000 ordinary shares of £1 each .. .. . .. .. .. . .. 35,000 35,000
22, Profit and Loss Account
£000
Restated
At 1 April 2001 as previously reported .. 280,911
Prior year adjustment — (see note 27) 1,685
At 1 April 2001 as restated 282,596
Retained profit for the financial year 46,352
At 31 March 2002 328,948
23. Reconciliation of Movements in Shareholders’ Funds
2002 2001
£000 £000
Restated
Profit for the financial year .. .. . . . . .. .. . .. 46,352 52,745
Dividends .. . . . . o .. . . .. —  (43,500)
Net additions to shareholders funds . 46,352 9,245
Equity shareholders’ funds at 1 April (orlg:nally £315 911 000 restated for prlor
year adjustment of £1,685,000 (see note 27)} .. . . .. 317,596 308,351
Equity shareholders’ funds at 31 March 363,948 317,596
24. Directors’ interests
Directors’ beneficial interests in the ordinary shares of Marks and Spencer Group plc:
R Colvil P S Fennell G Lynott J Walton
Number Number Number Number
At 1 April 2001*
Shares 59,010 1,194 - 2,583 1,148
Total options 325,662 193,615 10,817 128,347
Exercisable options — — — —-
Options granted .. — 51,718 51,268 51,288
Options exercised or Iapsed 75,581 — — —
At 31 March 2002
Ordinary Shares 51,398 1,662 2,754 928
B Shares .. 7,827 2,054 1,720 —
Total options 250,081 245,333 62,085 179,635

Exercisable options
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K Culley K Knutson R Ranson
Number Number Number
At 1 April 2001*
Shares .. .. .. . .. .. . . . .. 5,000 —_— 8,334
Total options ., . .. . .. . . " - — — —
Exercisable options .. . .. .. . .. . . -— — —
Options granted .. .. . .. . . .. .. . — — —
Options exercised or lapsed .. .. .. .. .. .. . — — —
At 31 March 2002
Ordinary Shares .. .. .. .. .. . . .. 8,095 — 6,746
B Shares .. " .. . . .. . . .. . — — —
Total options .. . .. . . .. . . . — — —
Exercigable options .. . . .. .. . .. . — — —

*

at date of appointment where later

Mr Wells held no shares or share options during the year. The interests of Mrs L Powers-Freeling and
Mr McWalter are shown in the accounts of Marks and Spencer Group plc.

25. Commitments
{a) Commitments Under Operating Leases

At 31 March annual commitments under non-canceflable operating leases were as follows:

2002 2001

Land & Land &
Buildings Other Buildings Other
£000  £000 £000  £000
Expiring within one year .. .. .. .. . .. . — 79 2,473 48
Expiring between one and five years .. .. . .. .. 2,473 179 — a7
2,473 258 2,473 145

(b) Pensions
The Company is a member of the Marks and Spencer Group pension scheme in the United Kingdom.

The Marks and Spencer Group operates a number of defined benefit funded pension schemes
throughout the world. The pensions cost relating to the UK scheme is assessed in accordance with the
advice of an independent firm of qualified actuaries using the projected unit method, on the basis of
triennial valuations. The date of the last formal valuation was 1 April 2001, In the current year the cost to
the company was £5,607,654 (2001: £4,214,754). Contributions are based on pensions costs across
the group as a whole.

Details of the pension scheme, and the results of the latest actuarial valuation as required by FRS17, are
disclosed in the accounts of Marks and Spencer Group plc for the year ended 31 March 2002.

26. Related Party Transactions

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under FRS8 not to disclose any transactions with
entities that are 90% or more owned within the same group.

At 31 March 2002 4 (2001: 4} Directors had loans with the Company totaling £151,8585
(2001: £114,221).
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At 31 March 2002 10 (2001: 13) Officers had loans with the Company totalling £133,802
(2001: £192,560).

The Company engaged BJW International Ltd {a company wholly owned by Mr Wells, a non-executive
director of the Company) to provide consultancy services in respect of the Company's decision to enter
the Personal Lines Insurance market. The Company paid BJW International £5,781 (2001: £34,598) in
respect of this engagement. The amourt due to BJW International Limited at 31 March 2002 was £nil

(2001: £nil).

27. Prior Year Adjustment

Note 1 refers to the adoption of FRS 19 — Deferred Tax. The efiect of the change in accounting policy to
adopt FRS19 was to reduce tax on profit on ordinary activities by £268,000 (2001: £1,685,000) and to
increase profit for the financial year by £268,000 (20G1: £1,685,000).

£000
Deferred Tax Asset :
At 1 April 2001 as previously reported .. .. . . . . . . . . {288)
Prior year adjustment .. .. . .. . . . .. . .. . . .. 1,885
At 1 April 2001 as restated .. " . .. . . . " .. . . .. 1,397
Credited to the profit and loss account .. . . .. . . .. .. - - 268
At 31 March 2002 .. . . .. . o . . .. . . .. .. 1,665

28. Contingent Liabilities

Due to recent stock market movements there is a possibility that the guarantees given to customers
under the GCIP 5 product (as discussed in note 15) may be called upon.

It is not possible to quantify the potential liability.

The company has hedged this position to mitigate the risk of significant financial impact.

29. Ultimate Holding Company

The ultimate parent undertaking and ultimate controlling party is Marks and Spencer Group plc, which is
the parent undertaking of the largest group to consolidate these financial statements. Marks and Spencer
pic is the parent undertaking of the smallest group to consolidate these financial statements. The
immediate parent undertaking is Marks and Spencer Retail Financial Services Holdings Limited. All
companies are registered in England and Wales. Copies of Marks and Spencer Group pic consclidated
financial statements can be obtained from the Company Secretary at Michael House, Baker Street,
London, W1A 1DN.™

Notes:—

(1) The postcode has since changed to W1U BEP.
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year that give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period.
The directors are required to prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it is
inappropriate to presume that the company will continue in business.

The directors confirm that suitable accounting policies have been used and applied consistently with the
exception of the changes arising on the adoption of new accounting standards in the year as explained
on page 7" under Note 1 “Accounting Policies™, They also confirm that reasonable and prudent
judgements and estimates have been made in preparing the financial statements of the year ended 31
March 2002 and that applicable accounting standards have been followed.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets
of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.

By order of the Board

P H Green
Secretary

13 May 2002

Notes:—

{1) The page mentioned above refers to a page from the “Indepandent Auditors' Report io the Members of Marks and Spencer
Financial Services Limited”" and the corresponding reference in this Offering Circutar is to page 43.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
MARKS AND SPENCER FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED

We have audited the financial statements on pages 5 to 26"} which have been prepared under the
historical cost convention and the accounting policies set out on pages 7 to 9.%

Respective Responsibilities of Directors and Auditors

The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in accordance
with applicable United Kingdom law and accounting standards are set out in the statement of directors’
responsibitities on page 3./

Qur responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements and United Kingdom Audit'ng Standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board.,

" We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and are
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you if, in our opinion,
the directors’ report is not consistent with the financial statements, if the company has not kept proper
accounting records, if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit,
or if information specified by law regardiag directors’ remuneration and transactions is not disclosed.

We read the other information contained in the annual report and consider the implications for our report if
we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial
statements.

Basis of Audit Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by
the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are
appropriate to the company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit s0 as to obtain all the information and explanations which we
considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that
the financial statements are free from malerial misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity
or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information
in the financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs at 31
March 2002 and of its profit for the year then ended and have been properly prepared in accordance with
the Companies Act 1985.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors

London 13th May 2002

Notes:—

0 The pages mentionaed above refer to pages from the “Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Marks and Spencer
Financial Services Limited™ and the corresponding reference in this Off_ering cireular is to pages 41 to 56.

2 The pages mentioned above refer to pages from the 'Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Marks and Spencer
Financial Services Limited' and the corresponding reference in this Offering Circular is to pages 43 and 44.

9 The page menticned zbove refers to a page from the "Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Marks and Spencer
Financial Services Limited" and the corresponding reference in this Offering Circular is to page 57.
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UNITED KINGDOM TAXATION

The comments below are of a general nature and reflect the understanding of the Issuers of current
United Kingdom law and current United Kingdom Inland Revenue practice at the date of this Offering
Circular. The comments relate only to the position of persons who are the absolute beneficial owners of
their Notes and Coupons and deal with United Kingdom withholding tax issues which arise on payments
in respect of the Notes. They do not address other United Kingdom taxation implications of acquiring,
holding or disposing of such Notes and Coupons {except direct assessment to income tax of interest and
discounis on Notes) and may not apply to certain classes of persons {such as dealers in securities) or
where the interest on any such Note is deemed to be the income of any person other than the
Notehoiders for United Kingdom tax purposes.

Prospective Noteholders who are in any doubt as to their tax position or may be subject to tax in
a jurisdiction other than the United Kingdom are strongly recommended to seek independent
advice.

So long as the Notes are listed on a recognised stock exchange within the meaning of section 841
Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 (the London Stock Exchange is currently a recognised stock
exchange for this purpose }, payments of interest may be made without withholding or deduction for or on
account of United Kingdom income tax. Under an Inland Revenue published interpretation, securities will
be treated as listed on the London Stock Exchange if they are admitted to the Official List and admitted to
trading by the London Stock Exchange.

Persons in the United Kingdom (a) paying interest to or receiving interest on behalf of another person, or
(b) paying amounts due on redemption of the Notes to or receiving such amounts on behalf of another
person, may be required to provide certain information to the United Kingdom inland Revenue regarding
the identity of the payee or person entitled to the interest and, in certain circumstances, such information
may be exchanged with tax authorities in other countries. However, in relation to amounts payable on the
redemption of the Notes, Inland Revenue published practice indicates that the Inland Revenue will not
exercise its power to obtain information where such amounts are paid or received by 5th April, 2003,

[t the Notes cease to be listed on a recognised stock exchange interest will generally be paid under
deduction of United Kingdem income tax at the lower rate {currenily 20 per cent) subject to any
direction to the contrary from the Inland Revenue in respect of such relief ag may be available pursuant to
the provisions of any applicable double taxation treaty.

Interest on Notes having a maturity of less than one year may also be paid without deduction for or on
account of United Kingdom income tax provided that the relevant Notes are not issued as part of an
arrangement to obtain funding from the same person or persons for a longer period.

If the Notes are issued at a discount or redeemabie at a premium, no United Kingdom withhalding tax
should apply to any premium or discount uniess any element of the premium or discount were o be
treated for tax purposes as yearly interest, in which case, payments therecf would be subject to United
Kingdom withholding tax as outlined above.

The interest or any discount on a Note issued has a United Kingdom source and accordingly, subject as
set out below, may be chargeable to United Kingdom income tax by direct assessment. However, where
the interest and the discount is paid without withholding or deduction, neither the interest nor any
discount will be assessed to United Kingdom tax in the hands of a Noteholder who is not resident for tax
purposes in the United Kingdom unless that Noteholder carries on a trade, profession or vocation in the
United Kingdom through an United Kingdom branch or agency in connection with which the interest or
discount is received or to which those Notes are attributable. There are certain exemptions for interest
and discounts received by specified categories of agent such as some brokers and investment
managers.

Noteholders should note that the provisions relating to additional amounts referred to in ““Terms and
Conditions of the Notes — Taxation™ above would not apply if the Inland Revenue sought to assess
directly the person entitled to the relevant interest to United Kingdom tax. However exemption from, or
reduction of, such United Kingdom tax liability might be available under an applicable double taxation
treaty.
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‘Where interest has been paid under deduction of United Kingdom income tax, Noteholders who are not
resident in the United Kingdom may be able to recover all or part of the tax deducted if there is an
appropriate provision under an applicable double taxation treaty.

The Council of the European Union has published a revised draft directive regarding the taxation of
savings income. Subject to a number of important conditions being met, it is proposed that Member
States will be required to provide to the tax authorities of another Member State details of payments of
interest (or other similar income) paid by a person within its jurisdiction to an individual resident in that
other Member State, except that Belgium, Luxembourg and Austria will instead operate a withhaolding
system for a transitional period in relation to such payments. The proposed directive is not final, and may
be subject to further amendment or clarification.
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SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

Subject to the terms and on the conditions contained in a Distribution Agreement dated 1st July, 19986,
as amended and restated on 23rd September, 2002, (ihe "Distribution Agreement’) between the
Issuers, the Guarantor, the Permanent Dealers and the Arranger, the Notes will be offered on a
continuous basis by the Issuer to the Permanent Dealers. However, the Issuers have reserved the right to
sell Notes directly on their own behalf to Dealers that are not Permanent Dealers. The Notes may be
resold at prevailing market prices, or at prices related thereto, at the time of such resale, as determined
by the relevant Dealer. The Notes may also be sold by the relevant Issuer through the Dealers, acting as
agents of that Issuer. The Distribution Agreement also provides for Notes to be issued in syndicated
Tranches that are jointly and severally underwritten by two or mare Dealers.

The relevant Issuer, failing whom the Guarantor (in respect of Notes issued by Marks and Spencer
Finance p.l.c., Marks and Spencer Financial Services p.l.c. and St. Michael Finance p.l.c.), will pay each
relevant Dealer a commission as agreed between them. The Issuers have agreed to reimburse the
Arranger for certain of its expenses incurred in connection with the establishment of the Programme and
the Dealers for certain of their activities in connection with the Programme. The commissions in respect of
an issue of Notes on a syndicated basis will be stated in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Each Issuer and the Guarantor (in respect of Notes issued by Marks and Spencer Finance p.l.c., Marks
and Spencer Financial Services p.l.c. and St. Michael Finance p.l.c.) have agreed to indemnify the
Dealers against certain liabilities in connection with the offer and sale of the Notes. The Distribution
Agreement entitles the Dealers to terminate any agreement that they make to subscribe for Notes in
certain circumstances prior to payment for such Notes being made to the relevant Issuer.

United States

The Notes have not been and wili not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933 as amended
{the “Securities Act’’) and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or
benefit of, U.S. persons except in certain transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the
Securities Act. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the
Securities Act,

Notes in bearer form having a maturity of more than one year are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and
may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or to a United States
person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. tax regulations. Terms used in this paragraph
have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code and regulations thereunder.

Each Dealer has agreed that, except as permitted by the Distribution Agreement, it will not offer, sell or
deliver the Notes of any identifiable Tranche, (i} as part of their distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise
until 40 days after completion of the distribution of all the Notes in such Tranche as determined, and
certified to the relevant Issuer, by the Issuing and Paying Agent, or in the case of Notes issued on a
syndicated basis, the Lead Manager (as defined in the Distribution Agreement), within the United States
or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persans, and it will have sent 10 each dealer to which it sells
Notes duting the distribution compliance period a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions
on offers and sales of the Notes within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S.
persons.

In addition, untit 40 days after the commencement of the offering, an offer or sale of Notes within the

United States by any Dealer {whether or not participating in the offering) may violate the registration
requirements of the Securities Act.

United Kingdom

{a) In relation to Marks and Spencsr p.l.c., Marks and Spencer Finance p.l.c. and St. Michael Finance
p.l.c. {the "Non-authorised Issuers”).
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Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed that:—

1. in relation to Notes which have a maturity of one year or more and which are to be admitted to the
Official List, it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any Notes to persons in the United Kingdom
prior to admission of such Notes to listing in accordance with Part VI of the Financial Services and
Markets Act 2000 (the "FSMA'"}, except to persons whose ordinary activities invalve them in acquiring,
holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their
businesses or otherwise in circumstances which have not resulted and will not result in an offer to the
public in the United Kingdom within the meaning of the Public Offers of Securities Regulaticns 1995 or
the FSMA,;

2. in relation to Notes which have a maturity of one year or more and which are not to be admiited to the
Official List, it has not offered or sold and, prior 10 the expiry of a period of six months from the issue date
of such Notes, will not offer or sell any such Notes to persons in the United Kingdom except to persons
whose ordinary activities involve them in acguiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments
(as principal or agent} for the purposes of their businesses or otherwise in circumstances which have not
resulted and will not result in an offer to the public in the United Kingdom within the meaning of the Public
Offers of Securities Regulations 1995;

3. in relation to any Notes which have a maturity of less than one year from the date of issue, (a) itisa
person whose ordinary activities involve it in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments
{as principal or agent) for the purposes of its business and {b) it has not offered or sold and will not offer
or sell any Notes other than to persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding,
managing or disposing of investments {as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses or who
it is reasonable to expect will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of investments (as principal or agent) for
the purposes of their businesses where the issue of the Notes would otherwise constitute a contravention
of section 19 of the FSMA by the Non-authorised lssuers;

4. it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be
communicated any invitation or inducerment to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of
section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any Notes in circumstances
in which section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply {0 the Non-authorised Issuers or the Guarantor; and

5. it has complied with and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to
anything done by it in relation to the Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

(b) In relation to Marks and Spencer Financial Services p.l.c. (the "Authorised Issuer”)
Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed that:

1. in relation to Notes which have a maturity of one year or more and which are to be admitted to the
Official List, it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any Notes to persons in the United Kingdom
prior to admission of such Notes to listing in accordance with Part VI of FSMA, except to persons whose
ordinary activities involve them in acguliring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal
or agent) for the purposes of their businesses or otherwise in circumstances which have not resulted and
will not result in an offer to the public in the United Kingdom within the meaning of the Public Offers of
Securities Regulations 1995 or FSMA; :

2. in retation to Notes which have a maturity of one year or more and which are not to be admitted to the
Official List, it has not offered or sold and, prior to the expiry of a period of six months from the issue date
of such Notes, will not offer or sell any such Notes to persons in the United Kingdom except 10 persons
whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as
principal or agent} for the purposes of their businesses or otherwise in circumstances which have not
resulted and will not result in an offer to the public in the United Kingdom within the meaning of the Public
Offers of Securities Regulations 1995;

3. it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be
communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of
section 21 of FSMA) received by it in cennection with the issue or sale of any Notes in circumstances in
which section 21(1) of FSMA does not apply, in the case of the Guarantor and would not apply, in the
case of the Authorised Issuer if it was not an authorised person; and
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4. it has complied and will comply with all applicabie provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything
done by it in relation to such Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

The Netherlands

The Notes may not be offered, sold, transferred or delivered in or from The Netherlands, as part of their
initial distribution or as part of any re-oifering, and neither this Offering Circular nor any other document in
respect of the offering may be distributed or circulated in The Netherlands, other than to individuals or
legal entities which include, but are not limited to, banks, brokers, dealers, institutional investors and
undertakings with a treasury department, who or which trade or invest in securities in the conduct of a
business or profession. :

Japan

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities and Exchange Law of Japan (the
“Securities and Exchange Law"). Accordingly, each of the Dealers has represented and agreed that it
has not, directly or indirectly, offered or sold and will not, directly or indirectly, offer or sell any Notes in
Japan or to or for the benefit of a resident of Japan except pursuant to an exemption from the registration
requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with, the Securities and Exchange Law and other relevant
laws, regulations and guidelines of Japan. As used in this paragraph, ''resident of Japan” means any
person resident in Japan, including any corporation or other entity organised under the laws of Japan.

General

These selling restrictions may be modified {in relation to a specific Tranche) by the agreement of the
relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (in refation to a Tranche issued by Marks and Spencer Finance p.l.c.,
Marks and Spencer Financial Services p.l.c. or St. Michael Finance p.l.c.} and the relevant Dealer or
(otherwise than in relation to a specific Tranche) by the agreement of each Issuer, the Guarantor and the
Dealers following a change in a relevant law, regulation or directive. Any such modification will be set out
in the Pricing Supplement issued in respect of the issue of Notes to which it relates or in a supplement to
this Offering Circular.

QOther than in the United Kingdom, no action has been taken in any jurisdiction that would permit a public
offering of any of the Notes, or possession or distribution of the Offering Circular or any other offering
material or any Pricing Supplement, in any country or jurisdiction where action for that purpose is
required. :

Each Dealer has agreed that it will, to the best of its knowledge, comply with all relevant laws, regulations
and directives in each jurisdiction in which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers Notes or has in its
possession or distributes the Offering Circular, any other offering material or any Pricing Supplement and
neither the Issuers, the Guarantor, nor any other Dealer shall have responsibility therefor.
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Form of Pricing Supplement

The form of Pricing Supplement that will be issued in respect of each Tranche, subject only to the deletion
of non-applicable provisions, is set out kelow:

Pricing Supplement dated @
MARKS AND SPENCER p.l.c.
MARKS AND SPENCER FINANCE p.lL.c.

MARKS AND SPENCER FINANCIAL SERVICES p.l.c.
ST. MICHAEL FINANCE p.l.c.
£3,000,000,000
Euro Medium Term Note Programme
Due from, one month to 30 years from the original date of issue
SERIES NO: @

TRANCHE NO: @

[ISSUER]

{Briet Description and Amount of Notes]
[Guaranteed {in respect of Notes issued by Marks and Spencer Finance p.l.c.,
Marks and Spencer Financial Services p.l.c.
and St. Michael Finance p.l.c.) by
MARKS AND SPENCER p.Le.]
lssue Price: @ per cent.

[Publicity Name (s} of Dealer(s)]

This document constitutes the Pricing Supplement relating to the issue of Notes described herein. Terms
used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions set forth in the
Offering Circular dated @® September, 2002, This Pricing Supplement must be read in conjunction with
such Offering Circular,

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as “Not Applicable” (N/A). Note that the
numbering should remain as set out below, even if “Not Applicable” is indicated for individual
paragraphs or sub-paragraphs. Italics denote directions for completing the Pricing Suppiement.]
Provisions appearing on the face of the [Notes/Certificates]

1. (i) Issuer:

(i}  Guarantor: ®
2. [()] Series Number: ®
[(ii) Tranche Number: .

(If fungible with an existing Series, details of
that Series, including the date on which the
Notes become fungible).]

3. Specified Currency or Currencies: ®
4, Aggregate Nominal Amount:
[(i)] Series: L
[ {i}] Tranche: L
5. [(i)] Issue Price: ® per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount [ plus

accrued interest from [insert date] (in the case of
fungible issues only, if applicable) ]

i {ii} Net proceeds: ® (Reguired only for listed issues) |
8. Specified Denominations: o
7. [(i}] lIssue Date:

[{ii) Interest Commencement Date (if L

different from (the Issue Date):
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8. Maturity Date: [specify date ar (for Floating Rate Notes) Interest
Payment Date falling in the relevant month and
year]

9. Interest Basis: [ @ per cent. Fixed Rate]
[ [ specify reference rate] +/— @ per cent Floating
Rate]

[Zero Coupon]

[Index Linked Interest]

[Other (specify)]

(further particulars specified below)
10. Redemption/Payment Basis: [Redemption at par]

[Index Linked Redemption}

[Dual Currency]

[Partly Paid]

[Instaliment]

[Other (spacify) ]

11. Change of Interest or Redemption/ [Specify details of any provision for Payment Basis:
Payment Basis: convertibility of Notes into ancther inferest or
redemption/payment basis]
12. Put/Call Options: [Put]
[Call]
[ {further particulars specified below) ]
13. (D) Status of the Notes: Senior
[ (i) Status of the Guarantee: Senior]
14. Listing: [Official List of the UK Listing Authority and trading
on the London Stock Exchange/Other (specify)}/
None]
15. Method of distribution: | Syndicated /Non-syndicated ]

Provisions relating to interest (if any) payable

16. Fixed Rate Note Provisions: [ Applicable/Not Applicable ]
{if not applicable, delete the remaining sub-
paragraphs of this paragraph)

(i} Rate[ (s)] of interest: ® per cent. per annum [payable annually/semi-
annuailly /quarterly /monthly] in arrear]

(i) interest Payment Date(s): @ in each year

(ii}  Fixed Coupon Amount[ (s) ]: ® per @ in nominal amount

{iv) Broken amount: [Insert particulars of any initial or final broken

interest amounts which do not correspond with the
Fixed Coupon Amountf(s}] and the Interest
Payment Dafe(s} to which they relate]
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L

(v}  Day Count Fraction {Condition o
5(k)): Day count fraction should be Actual/Actual-ISMA
for all fixed rate issues other than those
denominated in U.S. Dollars, unless otherwise
agreed)
{vi) Determination Date(s) [insert day(s)} and month(s) on which interest is
{Condition 5{k) }: ~normally paid (if more than one, then insert such
dates in the alternative) ] in each year‘®
(vii) Other terms relating to the method of [Not Applicable/give details]
calculating interest for Fixed Rate
Notes:
17. Floating Rate Provisions: [ Applicable /Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-
paragraphs of this paragraph. Alsc consider
whether EURC, BBA, LIBOR or EURIBOR is the
appropriate reference rate for Notes denominated in
euro)
(i) Specified Period (s} / Specified ¢
Interest Payment Dates:
{ii} Business Day Convention: fFloating Rate Business Day Convention/Following
Business Day, Convention/Modified Following
Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day
Convention fother (give detfails) |
(it}  Additional Business Centre(s) L
{Condition 5(k)):
{iv} Manner in which the Rate(s) of [Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination/
Interest is/are to be determined: other (give details} ]
{v} Interest Period Date(s): [Not Applicable/specify dates]
{vi) Party responsible for calculating the o
Rate(s) of Interest and Interast
Amount({s) (if not the Calculation
Agent): _
(vii}  Screen Rate Determination {Condition

5(b) (i} (B)):

Relevant Time: ®

Interest Determination Date: J@ [TARGET] Business Days in [specify city] for
[specify currency] prior to [the first day in each

Interest Accrual Period/each Interest Payment
Date}]]

Primary Source for Floating Rate: [Specify relavant screen page or '‘Reference
Banks™]

Reference Banks (if Primary Source [ Specify four]
is “Reference Banks''): '

Relevant Financial Centre: [The financial centre most closely connected to the
Benchmark — specify if not London]

Benchmark: [LIBOR, LUIBID, [IMEAN, EURIBOR or other
benchmark]

Representative Amount: [Specify if screen or Reference Bank quotations are

to be given in respect of a transaction of a specified
notional amount]
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(viil)

(ix)
(x}

(xi}
(xii)

(xiii}

(xiv)

Effective Date:

Specified Duration:

ISDA Determination {Condition
S(b) (iii} (A}):

Floating Rate Option:
Designated Maturity:

Reset Date:

ISDA Definitions: if different from
those set out in the Conditions:
Margin(s):

Minimum Rate of Interest:
Maximum Rate of Interest:

Day Count Fraction (Condition
5(k)):

Rate Muttiplier:

Fall back provisions, rounding
provisions, denominator and any
other {erms relating to the method of
calculating interest on Floating Rate
Notes, if different from those set out
in the Conditions:

18. Zero Coupon Note Provisions:

(i)
(i)

Amortisation Yield {Condition 6(b) ):
Day Count Fraction (Condition
S(k)):

Any other formula/basis of
determining amount payable:

19. Index Linked Interest Note Provisions:

(i)
(ii)

fii}

(iv)
(v}

(vi)

index/Formula:
Calculation Agent responsible for
calculating the inferest due:

Provisions for determining Coupon
where calculation by reference to
Index and/or Formula is impossible or
impracticable:

Specified Period(s) / Specified
Interest Payment Dates:

Business Day Convention:

Additional Business Centre(s)
(Condition (k) ):

[Specify if quotations are not to be obtained with
effect from commencement of Interest Accrual
Period |

[Specify period for quotation if not duration of
Interest Accrual Period}

[+/—] ® per ceni. per annum
@ per cent. per annum

® per cent. per annum

®

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(if not applicable, delete the remaining sub-
paragraphs of this paragraph)

® per cent. per annum
®

[Applicable/Not Applicable ]

(if not applicable, delete the remaining sub-
paragraphs of this paragraph)

[Give or annex details]

®

[Floating Rate Business Day Convention/Following
Business Day Convention/Modified Following
Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day
Convention/other (give details) ]
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(vii)  Minimum Rate of Interest:
{viii) Maximum Rate of Interest:
(ix) Day Count Fraction (Condition
5(k)):
20. Duat Currency Note Provisions:

(i) Rate of Exchange/Method of
calculating Rate of Exchange:

(i)  Calculation Agent, if any, responsible
for calculating the principal and/or
interest due:

(i)  Provisions applicable where
calculation by reference to Rate of
Exchange impossible or
impracticable:

(iv)  Person at whose option Specified
Currency (ies) is/are payable:
(v)  Day Count Fraction {Condition
5(k)):
Provisions Relating to Redemption
21. Call Option:

(i) Optional Redemption Date(s):

(iiy  Optional Redemption Amount({s) and
method, if any, of calculation of such
amount (s):

(i)  If redeemable in part:

(a) Minimum nominal amount to be
redeemed:

(b) Maximum nominat amoLnt to be
redeemed:

(iv) Option Exercise Date(s):

{v)  Description of any other Issuer's
option:

{vi) Notice period (if other than as set
out in the Conditions):

22. Put Option:

(i} Optional Redemption Date(s):

(i)  Optional Redemption Amount(s) and
method, if any, of calculatior of such
amount{s):

(i}  Option Exercise Date(s):

(iv} Description of any other Noteholders’
option:

{v)  Notice period (if other than as set
out in these Conditicns):

@ per cent. per annum
® per cent. per annum
|

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (if not applicable,
delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this

paragraph)
[Give details]

[ Applicable /Not Applicable] (if not applicable,
delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

®

®

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (if nof applicable,
delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

o

o
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23. Final Redemption Amount:
24. Early Redemption Amount:

(i) Early Redemption Amount{s} payable
on redemption for taxation reasons
(Condition 6(c}) or an event of
default (Condition 10) and/or the
method of calculating the same (if
required or it different from that set
out in the Conditions):

(iil)  Redemption for taxation reasons
permitted on days other than Interest
Payment Dates {Condition 6(c)):

{(iii)  Unmatured Coupons to become void
upon early redemption (Bearer Notes
only) {Condition 7(f}):

General Provisions Applicable to the Notes
25. Form of Notes:

(i) Temporary or permanent global
Note / Certificate:

(i)  Applicable TEFRA exemption:

26. Additional Financial Centre(s) (Condition
7(h)) or other special provisions relating to
payment dates:

27. Talons for future Coupons or Receipts o be
attached to Definitive Notes (and dates on
which such Talons mature:

28. Details relating to Partly Paid Notes: amount
of each payment comprising the Issue Price
and date on which each payment is to be
made and conseguences (if any)} of failure
to pay, including any right of the Issuer to
forfeit the Notes and interest due on late
payment:

29. Details relating to Instalment Notes:
(i) Instalment Amount(s):
{li)  Instaiment Date(s):
(iii)  Minimum Instalment Amount:
{iv} Maximum Instalment Amount:

{ Nominal amount/Other/See Appendix]

[Yes/No]

i Yes/No/Not Applicable]

Bearer Notes/Exchangeable Bearer Notes/
Registered Notes

[Delete as appropriate]

[temporary Global Note/Certificate exchangeable
for a permanent Global Note/ Certificate which is
exchangeable for Definitive Notes/Certificates on @
days' notice/at any time/ in the limited
circumstances specified in the permanent Global
Note/Certificate ]

[temporary Global Note/Certificate exchangeable
for Definitive Notes/ Certificates on @ days’ notice]

[permanent Global Note/Certificate exchangeable
for Definitive Notes/Certificates on @ days’
notice/at any time/ in the limited circumstances
specified in the permanent Global Note / Certificate ]

[C Rules/D Rules/Not Applicable]

[Not Applicable!/Give details. Note that this item
refates to the place of payment, and not interest
period and dates, to which item 17 (iii) relates]

[Yes/No. If yes, give details]

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Not Applicable/give details]
®
L ]
®
®
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30. Redenomination, renominalisation and [Not Applicable/The provisions annexed to this
reconventioning provisions: Pricing Supplement apply]

31, Consolidation provisions: [Not Applicable/The provisions annexed to this

Pricing Supplement apply]

32. Other terms or special conditions:*’ [Not Applicable/give details]

Distribution

33, () If syndicated, names of Managers: [Not Applicable/give names}
(it)  Stabilising Manager (if any): [Not Applicable/give name]
(i}  Dealer's Commissiorn: ¢

34. If non-syndicated, name of Dealer: {Not Applicable/ give names]

35. Additional selling restrictions: ' [Not Applicable/give names]

Operational Information

36. ISIN Code: ®

37. Common Code: ®

38. Any clearing system(s)} other than Euroclear  [Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s) ]
and Clearstream, Luxembourg and the
relevant identification number(s):

39. Delivery: Delivery [against/free of] payment
40. The Agents appointed in respect of the ®
Notes are:
General
41. Additional steps that may only be taken [Not Applicable/give details]

following approval by an Extracrdinary
resolution in accordance with Condition
12(a)):
42. The aggregate principal amount of Motes [Not Applicable/[£] @]
issued has been translated into [£] at the
rate of @, producing a sum of (for Notes not
denominated in [£]):

[Listing Application

The Pricing Supplement comprises the details required to list the issue of Notes described herein
pursuant to the listing of the [insert Programme Amount] Eurc Medium Term Note Programme of Marks
and Spencer Finance p.l.c., Marks and Spencer Financial Services p.l.c., St. Michael Finance p.l.c. and
Marks and Spencer p.l.c.] :

[ Stabilising

In connection with this issue, [insert nams of Stabilising Agent] (the ''Stabilising Agent™) or any person
acting for him may over-allot or effect trarsactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes
at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail for a limited period after the lssue Date. However,
there may be no obligation on the Stabilising Agent or any agent of his to do this, Such stabilising, if
commenced, may be discontinued at any time, and must be brought to an end after a limited period.]

Material Adverse Change Statement

[ Except as disclosed in [the Offering Circular] [the supplemental Offering Circular] [this document],
there /There]'® has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer [, the
Guarantor] or of the Group since finserf date of Jast audited accounts or interim accounts (if later) ] and
no material adverse change in the financial position or prospects of the Issuer [, the Guarantor] or of the
Group since finsert dafe of last published annual accounts. |
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Responsibility

The Issuer [and the Guarantor] accept[s] responsibility for the information contained in this Pricing
Supplement which, when read together with the Offering Circular [and the supplemental Offering
Circular] referred to abeve, contains all information that is material in the context of the issue of the
Notes.

Signed on behalf of the Issuer:

By e
Duly authorised

[Signed on behalf of the Guarantor:

By: ...... P
Duly authorised]

Notes:

(1} Notes which have a maturity of less than one year must have a minimum denomination of £100,000 {or its equivalent in other
currencies) if they are issued by any Issuer other than Marks and Spencer Financial Services p.l.c.

{2} Only to be completed for an issue where Day Count Fraction is Actual/Actual-ISMA

(3} If full terms and conditions are to be used, please add the following here:
"The fuil text of the Conditions which apply to the Notes [and which will be endorsed on the Notes in definitive form] are set
out in £the Annex hereto], which Conditions replace in their entirety those appearing in the Offering Circular for the purposes
of these Notes and such Ceonditions will prevail over any other provisicn to the contrary."
The first set of bracketed words is to be deleted where there is a permanent gicbal Note instead of Notes in definitive form. The
full Conditions should be attached to and form part of the pricing supplement.

(4

If any change is disclosed in the Pricing Supplement, it will require approval by the UK Listing Authority in its capacity as
competent authority under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 or the competent authority in respect of such other
stock exchange(s} on which the Notes may be listed. Consideration should be given as to whether or not such disclosure
should be made by means of a supplementatl Offering Circular [ comprising supplemental listing particulars] rather than in a
Pricing Supplement.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

1. The listing of the Notes on the Cfficial List will be expressed as a percentage of their nominal amount
(exclusive of accrued interest). Itis expected that listing of the Programme in respect of the Notes on the
Official List and admission of the Notes to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s market for listed
securities will be granted on or about 26:h September, 2002. It is expected that each Tranche of Notes
which is to be admitted to the Official List will be admitted separately and when issued, subject only to
the issue of a temporary or permanent Global Note {or one or more Certificates) in respect of each
Tranche. Prior to official listing and admission to trading, however, dealings will be permitted by the.
London Stock Exchange in accordance with its rules. Transactions will normally be effected for delivery
on the third working day after the day of the transaction. However, unlisted Notes may be issued
pursuant to the Programme.

2, Each lssuer has obtained all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations in the United
Kingdom in connection with the establishment and update of the Programme and Marks and
Spencer p.l.c. has abtained all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations in the United Kingdom
in connection with the giving of the guarantee relating to the Programme. The establishment and update
of the Programme and the issue of the Notes was authorised by resolutions of the Board of Directors of
Marks and Spencer Finance p.l.c. and St. Michael Finance p..c. each passed on 28th June, 19986,
5th June, 1897 and 6th July, 1998, 9th July, 1999, 3rd July, 2000, 4th July, 2001, 24th September, 2001
and 19th September, 2002 respectively; the issue of Notes by Marks and Spencer p.l.c. was authorised
by resolution of the Treasury Committee of its Board of Directors passed on 24th September, 2001 and
29th August, 2002. The Board of Directors of Marks and Spencer Financial Services p.l.c. autharised its
inclusion as an lssuer under the Programme on 19th July, 2002. The giving of the guarantee relating to
the Programme by the Guarantor was authorised by resolutions of a commitiee of the Board of Directors
of the Guarantor passed on 4th June, 1926, 25th June, 1997, 6th July, 1998, 9th July, 1999, 30th June,
2000, 4th July, 2001, 24th September, 2001 and on 28th August, 2002,

3. There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuers or of the Group
since the date on which their most recent audited accounis were prepared and no material adverse
change in the financial position or prospects of the Issuers or of the Group since such date which, in the
case of Marks and Spencer Financial Services p.l.c., was 31st March, 2002 and, in the case of the other
Issuers and the Guarantor, was 30th March, 2002,

4, None of the tssuers nor any of their subsidiaries is or has been involved in any legal or arbitration
proceedings that may have, or have had during the 12 months preceding the date of this document, a
significant effect on the financial position of the Group or of the relevant Issuer nor is any Issuer aware
that any such proceedings are pending or threatened.

5. Each Bearer Note, Receipt, Coupon and Talon will bear the following legend: “Any United States
person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax laws,
including the limitations provided in Seclions 165(j) and 1287 (a) of the Internal Revenue Code”,

6. Notes have been accepted for clearance through the Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg
gystems. The Common Cede and the International Securities |dentification Number {(ISIN) and (where
applicable} the identification number for any other relevant clearing system for each Series of Notes will
be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

7. For so long as Notes may be issued pursuant to this Offering Circular, the following documents will
be available, during usual business hours on any weekday (Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays
excepted), for ingpection at the office of each Issuer and of the Issuing and Paying Agent in London; —

7.1 the Trust Deed (which includes the form of the Global Notes, the Global Certificates, the definitive
Bearer Notes, the Coupons, the Receipts and the Talons)

7.2 the Distribution Agreement

7.3 the Agency Agreement

7.4 the Memorandum and Articles of Association or constitutive documents of each Issuer

7.5 each Pricing Supplement for Notes that are listed on the Official List and which are admitted to
trading on the London Stock Exchange’s market for listed securities or any other stock exchange
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7.6 a copy of this Offering Circular together with any Supplement to this Cifering Circular or further
Cffering Circular

7.7 a copy of the subscription agreement for Notes issued on a syndicated basis that are listed on the
Official List and which are admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s market for listed
securities.

7.8 a copy of the “Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Marks and Spencer Financial
Services Limited"' an extract of which is reproduced in this Qffering Circular on pages 41 to 58.

8. Copies of the latest published annual report and audited accounts of Marks and Spencer
Finance p.l.c. and St. Michael Finance p.l.c. for the two financial years ended 30th March, 2002 and for
the two financial years ended 31st March, 2002, in the case of Marks and Spencer Financial Services
p.l.c. and of the latest published annual report and audited consolidated accounts of the Guarantor and
its subsidiaries for the two financial years ended 30th March, 2002 and the subsequent interim accounts
of Marks and Spencer Finance p.l.c., Marks and Spencer Financial Services p.l.c. and Si. Michael
Finance p.l.c. and the subsequent interim consolidated accounts of the Guarantor may be obtained, and
copies of the Trust Deed (including the Guarantee} will be available for inspection, at the office of each
Issuer and at the specified offices of each of the Paying Agents during normal business hours, so long as
any of the Notes is outstanding.

9. PricewaterhouseCoopers (Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors) of 1 Embankment
Place, London, WC2N 6NN have audited, and rendered unqualified audit reports on, the accounts of each
Issuer for the three years ended 30th March, 2002 {or 31st March, 2002, in the case of Marks and
Spencer Financial Services p.l.c.). The auditors have given their written consent to the issue of this
document with the inclusion in it of their report entitled “Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of
Marks and Spencer Financial Services Limited™ in the form and context in which it is included and have
authorised the report for the purposes of Article 6(e} of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000
{Official Listing of Securities) Regulations 2001.
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